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Thursday, January 9, 2024
--- On commencing at 9:45 a.m.


MS. DJURDJEVIC:  Good morning.  My name is Ljuba Djurdjevic, and I am counsel with the Ontario Energy Board in today's proceeding.  We are here today for a virtual technical conference on an application filed on November 8, 2024, by the NQS Generation Group, the application requesting that the OEB review a set of amendments to the Market Rules made by the Independent Electricity System Operator.  Those Market Rules are MR-00481-R000 to -R013.  The application requests that the OEB revoke the amendments and refer them back to the IESO for further consideration.  The OEB has assigned file number EB-2024-0331 to this proceeding.

In the decision of Procedural Order No. 2, the OEB determined that it would convene a transcribed technical conference for parties to ask clarification questions related to the application and evidence filed.  The OEB is allowing two days for this technical conference.

I will say more about today's session in a moment, but I would like to begin with a land acknowledgement from our hearings advisor, Lillian Ing.
Land Acknowledgement

MS. ING:  Good morning, everybody.  The Ontario Energy Board acknowledges that our headquarters in Toronto is located on the traditional territory of many nations, including the Mississaugas of the Credit, the Anishinaabeg, the Chippewa, the Haudenosaunee, and the Wendat peoples.  This area is now home to many diverse First Nations, Inuit, and Métis Peoples.  We also acknowledge that Toronto is covered by Treaty 13 with the Mississaugas of the Credit.  We are grateful for the opportunity to gather and work on this land and recognize our shared responsibility to support and be good stewards of it.  Thank you.
Procedural Matters


MS. DJURDJEVIC:  Thank you, Lillian.  I will remind parties that technical conferences do not take place in front of a Panel of Commissioners who are hearing the case, but they are transcribed, and the transcript forms part of the record in this proceeding.  The technical conference is also being broadcast and will be on air throughout the conference except for breaks.

The other procedural matters I would like to remind parties of is that this is a technical conference and is not intended to be cross-examination on the evidence.  The OEB stated in its decision in Procedural Order No. 2 that:
"The OEB expects parties will coordinate to allow for an efficient technical conference.  Further, parties should not engage in detailed exploration of items that do not appear to be material or are inconsistent with the OEB's findings on the scope of the proceeding and evidentiary matters as set out in the decision in PO2."

Our hearings advisor Lillian Ing circulated the schedule for today's session and tomorrow's, after parties and the OEB had provided time estimates.  We are planning a 15-minute break in the morning, a one-hour lunch break at around 12:30, and an afternoon break.  But, as always, we are going to see how the day goes and deal with fitting in breaks throughout the course of the day.

Finally, before we go into appearances, just a few reminders about technical matters because this is a virtual setting.  First, I would ask intervenors who are not asking questions to turn mute their audio and turn off their cameras when witnesses are being questioned by someone else.

Second, while there is a chat function available in the Zoom platform, nothing in the chat platform will be recorded or appear on the transcript.  So you can send messages to each other or to the group, but they will not be transcribed.

Thirdly, I ask that everyone ensure that the name that they have associated with their picture right now on Zoom is their full name and party so that the court reporter can accurately report what is said and by whom.

Finally, for this virtual session, we ask that you repeat your name and whom you represent.  That will assist the court reporter in transcribing this matter.  It is particularly important if you are stepping in to ask a follow-up question.
Appearances


On that note, I will introduce the members of the OEB Staff who are here with me this morning.  I will then move on to appearances.

With me are Tracy Garner, manager of transmission policy and compliance; Freed Akhter, senior advisor, transmission policy and compliance; Tobias Hobbins, articling student; and the case manager for this application, Michael Bell, senior advisor in application policy and conservation.

With that, I will not turn it over to the parties to enter their appearances, and we will start with IESO.  Over to you, Mr. Zacher, to introduce your team and witnesses.

MR. ZACHER:  Thank you.  So, on behalf of the IESO, I am Glenn Zacher, counsel for the IESO, and with me are my colleagues Patrick Duffy and Lesley Mercer.  As well, Aaron Kucharczuk, who is internal senior legal counsel for the IESO, is present.  And the IESO's two witnesses are Stephen Nusbaum and Darren Matsugu.

MS. DJURDJEVIC:  Thank you, Mr. Zacher.  Moving to the Applicants, NQS Generation Group, Mr. Vellone, I would ask you to introduce your team and who is attending with you.

MR. VELLONE:  Good morning.  My name is John Vellone, and I am counsel on behalf of the NQS Generation Group.  And with me this morning is my partner, Colm Boyle, who is going to attempt to throw evidence up on the screen and help things move a little bit more efficiently today.

There are a few of the NQS Generators joining us this morning.  I will just quickly go through the list:  Ms. Noralyn Vasquez, Mr. Brandon Kelly, Mr. Bryce Nunley.  I think that's all I see right now.  And the three witnesses speaking to the Power Advisory report are also here with us, Mr. Jason Chee-Aloy, Brady Yauch, and Michael Killeavy.  Thank you.

MS. DJURDJEVIC:  Thank you, Mr. Vellone.  Moving on to the intervenors, on behalf of FirstLight, Ms. Goyal, can you please introduce yourself and anyone attending with you.

MS. GOYAL:  Thank you very much.  I'm here today only as an observer.  We are not participating in today's technical conference, so I don't expect that we need to be part of the record.

MS. DJURDJEVIC:  Thank you, Ms. Goyal.

MS. GOYAL:  Thank you.

MS. DJURDJEVIC:  On behalf of the School Energy Coalition, Mr. Rubenstein, go ahead.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  Good morning.  Mark Rubenstein, counsel for the School Energy Coalition.

MS. DJURDJEVIC:  Thank you, Mr. Rubenstein.  And, on behalf of CCC, Mr. Gluck, introduce yourself and anybody attending with you.

MR. GLUCK:  Good morning.  Lawrie Gluck, a consultant to the Consumers Council of Canada.
Preliminary Matters


MS. DJURDJEVIC:  Thank you.  I believe that we have identified everyone.  One preliminary matter that I would like to raise is about the use of acronyms and the terminology in this proceeding, which is very complex, sometimes lengthy, and we encounter a lot of acronyms.  Yesterday, we, the OEB, sent an e-mail indicating that we propose to firstly file a glossary of terms that are commonly used in this proceeding, and we would like to make this an exhibit at the outset of this technical conference.  The intention is just to make it easier for the court reporter to transcribe the various technical terms and acronyms when they are used so that we don't have to correct the transcript extensively afterwards.  The glossary that we propose to use is taken from the NQS report, the Power Advisory report that was filed by NQS.  Staff will start by making this an exhibit, KT1.1.
EXHIBIT KT1.1:  GLOSSARY OF TERMS.

MS. DJURDJEVIC:  Again, just with respect to the use of acronyms, the Panel has asked that parties refrain from using acronyms whenever possible.  We understand that some terms are commonly used though will not insist on the full term for some of the following, but, at the outset, I'm going to sound and spell them out for the benefit of the court reporter so that, when they are used, the court reporter will be able to easily transcribe it.

For example, the term "IESO" as spelled I-E-S-O, refers to the Independent Electricity System Operator.  Another term we will hear is the Hourly Ontario Energy Price, which is frequently referred to as "HOEP."  It sounds like "hope," but it is spelled H-O-E-P.  Similarly common abbreviations include OEB for the Ontario Energy Board, OPA for the Ontario Power Authority, OPG for Ontario Power Generation, and the market renewal program is referred to typically as "MRP."  We understand those terms may be commonly used.  Other, more complex, technical ones, parties are being urged to try to use the proper full words.

With that, I ask if the parties have any other preliminary matters to raise before we move on to the schedule and get started.  Okay.  Seeing none, we will proceed with the schedule.  Now, originally it was contemplated that the IESO witnesses would give a presentation, but the IESO has declined and advised that they don't intend to do that.  So we will start directly with the questioning for the IESO witnesses and the first questioning party will be NQS.  So, Mr. Vellone, over to you.
INDEPENDENT ELECTRICITY SYSTEM OPERATOR - PANEL 1

Stephen Nusbaum

Darren Matsugu

Examination by Mr. Vellone

MR. VELLONE:  Thank you very much, Ms. Djurdjevic.  Perhaps could I get the witnesses just to say something, mostly because I cannot even see you on my screen.  Let's do some audio checks.

MR. MATSUGU:  Sure.  Hopefully this will focus on us as we speak.  This is Darren Matsugu from the IESO.

MR. NUSBAUM:  Good morning, Mr. Vellone.  This is Stephen Nusbaum from the IESO.

MR. VELLONE:  Good morning, Mr. Nusbaum.  Thank you both for joining us.  It is not unfortunately focusing on you so I get to see Mr. Zacher and Mr. Duffy's coffees and computers and stuff.  But I will do the best I can in the circumstances.

Yesterday evening my colleague, Mr. Boyle circulated a compendium.  The vast majority of the materials is extracts or highlights on stuff that's on the record.  The one thing that wasn't already on the record, certainly I couldn't find it, was what I included at tab 1, the September 22, 2022 validation memo.  Before I get that marked as an exhibit, are there any objections to the materials we've filed in our compendium this morning?

MR. DUFFY:  Mr. Vellone, I'm not sure that tab 2 was part of the record either; right?

MR. VELLONE:  Tab 2 is an extract from the IESO 2019 business case, MRP business case, I think.  And I believe the IESO included that as one of your tabs in your brief of exhibits that you filed on Monday.  So I've  picked a couple of pages, 37 and 38 on that business case out.  But the entirety of the business case should already be on the record.  Let me know if you are thinking something differently than that.  I was just trying to be efficient and avoid flipping through a bunch of pages, that's all.

MR. ZACHER:  Just give us one moment, Mr. Vellone.

MR. VELLONE:  Please, absolutely.

MR. DUFFY:  Sorry, Mr. Vellone, it is evidence filed in another, like an IESO case from a couple of years ago.  It may just be the business case that was filed in that proceeding.

MR. VELLONE:  That is what it was, Mr. Duffy.  And if you want to compare the pages, it is not my intent to spring something on the witnesses that's different than what you filed Monday.

MR. DUFFY:  Okay.

MR. VELLONE:  And, quite frankly, I also -- my initial question is going to be:  Are you the author of the business case and how much can you talk about this?  So I'm not intending to trap them on that material either, to be honest.

MR. DUFFY:  Yes.  In any event, we'll check it but we don't have any objection to -- obviously it was filed in a previous IESO rate case.  We don't have any objection to it.

MR. VELLONE:  Thank you.  With that, Ms. Djurdjevic, can we get my compendium marked as an exhibit?

MS. DJURDJEVIC:  Yes, that will be Exhibit KT1.2, the NQS compendium.
EXHIBIT KT1.2:  NQS CROSS-EXAMINATION COMPENDIUM FOR IESO PANEL 1


MR. VELLONE:  Thank you.  And, Mr. Boyle, could you pull that up on the screen, if possible, using the screenshare?

So, I'm going to keep this as easy as I can.  I'm going to go through each of the tabs of my exhibit in order -- I don't know if I will have to go to tab 4, to be honest.  We'll see.  But let's start with tab 1, the MRP business case validation memo dated September 22, 2022.  Can the witnesses just quickly confirm that you're not the authors of this validation memo?  I believe that's clear from the first sentence there.

MR. MATSUGU:  That's correct.

MR. VELLONE:  Can we flip forward to page 2, and I've had some highlights on page 2.  And specifically in the table there there is a quantification of MRP efficiency benefits over a 10-year period and I have highlighted there the first row which is really where I want to focus our questioning and discovery today.  But before I get there, my understanding is that the IESO's assessment of benefits from the market renewal program haven't materially changed from your 2019 report business case as validated in this 2022 memo; is that correct?

MR. MATSUGU:  On the basis of what this validation memo says and, as you say -- as you asked, we are not the authors of it, but that's what this -- this report would appear to say.

MR. VELLONE:  Oh, thank you, Mr. Matsugu.  I'm asking a slightly broader question.  Are these still the benefits -- are these the efficiency benefits of MRP the best you have today?  I know there's been some cost increases on MRP, so the net benefits are different.  But the actual underlying efficiency benefits that you forecasted in 2019 validated in 2022, are those still the same today?

MR. MATSUGU:  As far as I'm aware of, we do not have any updated estimates.

MR. VELLONE:  Thank you.  That's consistent with my understanding.  I just wanted to make sure it was clear for the record.  The bulk of my questioning is going to be on the IESO's estimation of $190 million of benefits arising from more efficient unit commitments over a 10-year period.  You see that there?

MR. MATSUGU:  Yeah.

MR. VELLONE:  And I've highlighted the paragraph below which provides a very high-level explanation of how that benefit was calculated.  But perhaps -- are you able to put it into layman's terms?  And if you want, we can go to tab 2, the extract I took from the business case, if that's easier.

MR. MATSUGU:  Specifically where in tab 2 did you want to focus on?

MR. VELLONE:  Tab 2 should only have two pages and they should be highlighted for your attention.

MR. MATSUGU:  Yeah.

MR. VELLONE:  So, is that helpful?

MR. MATSUGU:  Yeah.  Okay.  So, I've got it here.

MR. VELLONE:  And just for the benefit of the transcript, tab 2 is an extract of the IESO's 2019 MRP business case.  It was filed in EB-2020-0230, that is where I found it, however I think it was also filed with the IESO in their compendium of exhibits on Monday.  And this extract is simply pages 37 and 38 of that business case.  And it relates to the IESO's quantification of benefits for MRP.  Do you agree?  That's what you're looking at here?

MR. MATSUGU:  Yeah, I follow.

MR. VELLONE:  Can you explain how the more efficient unit commitment benefit of $190 million was calculated, for the benefit of the panel?

MR. MATSUGU:  So, my understanding based upon my review of what it says here -- and I will add that I did not perform this analysis, but my understanding on the basis of what it says here -- is that the IESO looked at past commitments and assessed those commitments to see whether under the Market Renewal Program design, whether or not those commitments were efficient or inefficient.  And I believe what this section suggests is that, in fact, 5 out of 6 of those commitments would have been efficient, which meant that under the Market Renewal Program design that those commitments would have continued to exist.

I guess the flip side of that is what it says is that one in six of those commitments has been inefficient, which I interpret here to mean, based upon what it says, is that a lower-cost resource, when considering the total costs of the resource, should have been selected instead.

Put another way, that when factoring in start-up costs, that there may have been another resource -- like, another combined cycle resource that could have been used instead, to be able to meet that same level of demand at a lower cost to the system.

MR. VELLONE:  Thank you, very much.  The underlying analysis that formed the basis of this $190 million market more efficient unit-commitment estimate, is that on the evidentiary record?  Was that filed in your pre-filed evidence, or the evidence required by your licence?

MR. MATSUGU:  I am sorry.  Specifically, what is it that you are asking about?

MR. VELLONE:  We are looking for the details supporting the calculation that you just explained at a high level, the underlying data and analysis supporting this calculation.  Is it on the evidentiary record, yes or no?

MR. MATSUGU:  Do you mean the market participant offer data that the IESO uses and that we would have used to perform that analysis?

MR. VELLONE:  So you have explained you looked at 1,300 historical resource commitments.  You then -- my understanding of it is you re-sorted those commitments --


MR. MATSUGU:  So --


MR. VELLONE:  -- taking into account start-up costs, to arrive at the one -- so I am looking for the data, so my experts can analyze it.  I am looking to get the underlying analysis and data supporting this calculation.

MR. MATSUGU:  Right.  So just to correct the record, I didn't perform the analysis.  But what I believe is the case is that the IESO used historical market participant bid and offer data.  That is, I believe our -- the confidential market participant information that is submitted to us as part of the IESO-administered market, and we did an analysis using that data to be able to estimate what the dispatch of the -- the market optimization that would have occurred under the MRP design.

MR. VELLONE:  Understood.  I am asking the IESO if it is willing to accept an undertaking to produce the data and analysis used to support this calculation, together with any explanations you need.  And if you need to file it pursuant to the OEB's practice direction on confidential filings, you can make that claim to the extent it includes confidential offer data.  That is the request.

MR. ZACHER:  So, Mr. Vellone, the validation memo in the business case extract that you have referred to are public documents.  They have been available.  And if you and your experts wanted to undertake that analysis, perform that evaluation, it is open to you to do so.

That said, we will take the undertaking request under advisement.

MR. VELLONE:  I am --


MS. DJURDJEVIC:  Okay.  So we need to mark this, mark the refusal or under advisement undertaking.  We will call it JT1.1 for now.  I don't recall that we have a separate term for refusals versus -- or under advisements versus undertakings.  But we have identified it as JT1.1.
UNDERTAKING JT1.1:  IESO TO PRODUCE THE DATA AND ANALYSIS USED TO SUPPORT ITS MARKET PARTICIPANT DATA CALCULATIONS, TOGETHER WITH ANY EXPLANATIONS (UNDER ADVISEMENT)

MR. VELLONE:  Mr. Zacher, for what it's worth, I am trying not to force your witnesses who were not the authors of this document to have to speak to it too much.  I am just looking for documentation and evidence that my experts can analyze on the analytics that went into these calculations, and how it is similar, so that they can assess how it is similar to or different from the analysis they themselves performed.

MR. ZACHER:  So, Mr. Vellone, you've got our position.  But I would suggest that you exhaust your questions of these witnesses, to the extent they are able to answer them.

MR. VELLONE:  Understood.  Thank you.

One question I had on this topic before I move on is with regards to the 1,300 historical resource commitments that you did look at.  Can you confirm that those were all within the NQS group?  It wasn't resource commitments for other technologies?

MR. MATSUGU:  I can't speak to whether that is the case or not because, again, I didn't perform the analysis.  That said --


MR. VELLONE:  That's fair.  Can you undertake to find out?

MR. MATSUGU:  Well, so that said, the use of the term "commitment", I would have to see what was used in terms of defining what that meant.  So, yeah, I am sorry, I can't answer that question.

MR. VELLONE:  Certainly.  Can you undertake to find out, please?

MR. ZACHER:  Take that under advisement.

MS. DJURDJEVIC:  That will be undertaking or under advisement JT1.2.
UNDERTAKING JT1.2:  IESO TO CONFIRM THAT THE 1,300 HISTORICAL RESOURCE COMMITMENTS WERE WITHIN THE NQS GROUP (UNDER ADVISEMENT)

MR. VELLONE:  So I guess, at a high level, you have done a calculation and you have done an assessment of historical resource commitments and you have come up with an efficiency benefit of $190 million.

You now have the benefit of the Power Advisory analysis, and I have seen throughout your evidence, and we will get into this, a number of critiques of that analysis.

So has the IESO performed its own analysis of the economic harms to NQS Generators as a class, given your access to this data and the methodology that Power Advisory has proposed?  Have you done your own?

MR. MATSUGU:  So typically, when the IESO looks to make market design changes, we look at the impacts to assess the reliability and the overall efficiency of the system.

MR. VELLONE:  So that's, no?  You have not undertaken that type of analysis, did I get that right?

MR. MATSUGU:  That would be correct.

MR. VELLONE:  Thank you.  Would you be able to do so, given the data you have available and the methodology that you have from the Power Advisory report?

MR. MATSUGU:  I am not sure that we would be in a position to value what the individual impacts to any individual resource would be, primarily because how a participant chooses to respond to a different market design in the future is really up to their strategic and competitive interest.  And I would not want to purport to put myself into a participant's shoes about how they would be likely to change their behaviour in response to a new market design.

MR. VELLONE:  Certainly, the future is difficult to predict.  However, the IESO itself, when projecting the benefits of this Market Renewal Program, chose to go back and look at historical commitments to do this assessment of benefits.  Do you agree with that?

MR. MATSUGU:  To show the overall impact to the system and the benefits to ratepayers?  Yes.

MR. VELLONE:  And it is used as a proxy for the inefficiency cost of today's commitment process in your business case.  Right?

MR. MATSUGU:  Yeah -- for the inefficiency, that's correct.

MR. VELLONE:  So why can't we do the same thing when assessing the harms to NQS Generators?

MR. MATSUGU:  Well, I think you're asking me a different question, Mr. Vellone.

MR. VELLONE:  [Audio dropout] elaborate.  You said you can't do it because it requires you to forecast, and I'm asking you to go back, just like you did before.

MR. MATSUGU:  So what I mean by that is there is a difference between the change in the overall efficiency of the total cost of meeting Ontario's system requirements from the impact that would happen to any individual market participant.

MR. VELLONE:  I'm going to ask one more time, and then I'm going to give up and move on.  What if you were to take the proxy generator assumptions that Power Advisory had and perform the analysis using that?

MR. MATSUGU:  Sorry, do you mean in the example that was provided where the proxy generator was operating at a loss and then was made whole by the Generator Cost Guarantee; make whole, is that the example that you mean?

MR. VELLONE:  I mean what is currently appendix B of the Power Advisory's report.

MR. MATSUGU:  Yes, okay.  Yes, so that's a really helpful example to, I think, illustrate the difference here, that, in that instance -- and I know we have provided --


MR. VELLONE:  Apologies, appendix C of the Power Advisory report is really what I'm asking you to do.

MR. MATSUGU:  Right.

MR. VELLONE:  Appendix C.

MR. MATSUGU:  Yes, and I believe that C follows from Appendix B, which uses a -- provides a single-day example of the type of impact that's been described that leads to that aggregate.

Really where I was going, Mr. Vellone, was, in that instance, the proxy generator in question, the operating profit associated with that commitment was negative and the Generator Cost Guarantee payment required to top them up to not operating at an operating loss brought them back to zero, and so -- and the instance where an efficiency occurs is if we found instead a lower total-cost resource, that would result in a net or a ratepayer savings because there is an efficiency savings from finding a lower-cost resource to be able to meet that supply; we found somebody else that was cheaper.  But the financial impact to that resource that no longer got a commitment, they would be financially indifferent because they are operating -- whether or not they operated at a zero operating profit with the commitment or did not make the commitment, in both instances their financial profit from that commitment would have been zero.

I know this is a really important distinction, Mr. Vellone --


MR. VELLONE:  I apologize.  I do have a time limit today.

MR. ZACHER:  Mr. Vellone, if you could, just let the witness finish his answer.

MR. MATSUGU:  So your question about efficiency is:  Is the efficiency analysis that the IESO has undertaken -- and I think you were asking me questions on about where that efficiency savings comes from.  But the example that you are referring to as far as the financial impact I think highlights the difference between the question that you asked me, which was the difference between how there can be an efficiency savings resulting in lower costs to the system.  But that is not necessarily the same thing as a -- that is not equivalent to the financial impact to an individual resource.

MR. VELLONE:  So you have not calculated the financial impacts to the NQS resources as a group, and my understanding from our exchange this morning is you are refusing to do so.  Is that correct?

MR. ZACHER:  No, Mr. Vellone.  You asked the witness whether he could undertake that analysis, and he explained to you the difficulty in doing that.

MR. VELLONE:  Right, and so you are not going to do it?  The witness is not going to do that analysis; is that right?

MR. ZACHER:  Are you asking for an undertaking?

MR. VELLONE:  Yes.

MR. ZACHER:  It's refused.

MR. VELLONE:  Okay.  Thank you.  Let's turn up tab 3.  Let's go to page -- this is all of your evidence, so hopefully we shouldn't have the same problems that we did with some of the other materials, but let's start with page 3 of 57.  When I refer to page numbers, I'm referring to pages of the printed out documents because I'm old and I still print stuff out.

MR. MATSUGU:  You and me both, Mr. Vellone.

MR. VELLONE:  What I would like to do to begin with is just focus on kind of the first of several critiques you have of the Power Advisory evidence.  And my goal here is to just get as much clarity for the benefit of the adjudicating Panel as I can onto the evidentiary record.  So, if you'll bear with me, I'll do my best here.  That starts at row -- line number 10, continues kind of to the bottom of the page.

In essence, if I were to understand this critique, it is:  Power Advisory has given some evidence that MRP amendments will introduce new risks or features that are different than the current market.

And your observation here is to say:  Yes, but, to a certain extent, some of those risks and features exist maybe in different forms but exist in the current market.

Is that like a fair synopsis of this first point?

MR. MATSUGU:  Yes, I think that's fair to say, just that, to a certain extent, some of those risks we either say are not material risks or are risks that already exist in the current market.

MR. VELLONE:  And you're not intending a reader that would be looking at this to arrive at the conclusion that, for example, the day-ahead market after MRP is somehow going to operate the same as the day-ahead commitment process does currently?

You're not intending a reader to arrive at that conclusion.  Right?

MR. MATSUGU:  Not the same, but, in that specific example, there are a lot of similarities between the two processes.

MR. VELLONE:  I'm thinking what might be helpful for the Panel of Commissioners in just processing this aspect of your evidence is, for each of the bullets here, kind of a description of how in your view the risks or features are the same pre- and post-MRP and then a description of how exactly they're different pre- and post-MRP.  I'm trying to get as much clarity on the record for the benefit of the Panel of Commissioners.

MR. ZACHER:  Just to clarify, Mr. Vellone, that was the subject of the IESO's descriptive evidence.  Are you asking for additional clarifications?  Because it might be helpful to refer the witnesses to the descriptive evidence if that's the specific question you're asking.

MR. VELLONE:  I'm wondering -- I am asking for something in addition, Mr. Zacher, and I'm wondering if we could do it in a table, to be honest.  If you want to just pinpoint back to where it exists elsewhere in the evidence, that's fine.  What I'm concerned about is:  The Panel has the Power Advisory's evidence; it then has this critique from the IESO.  And how does it sort the two from each other?

So I'm trying to give a -- see if we can reach a consensus on what's the same and what's different.  Like, commitments --


MR. ZACHER:  So --


MR. VALLONE:  Yes, go ahead.

MR. ZACHER:  So the purpose of the descriptive evidence was to address the key features of the MRP amendments and to explain the changes from the current market to the renewed market.  In what you're referring to here, this is a summary of the disagreement that the IESO has with the Power Advisory evidence, and this summary is then further explained in the specific responses to paragraphs of the Power Advisory evidence.

So, I think the answer to your question, Mr. Vellone, is borne out by the ensuing paragraph-by-paragraph response that support these summary points.  And I'm not inclined to do further work when it's adequately set out in the evidence.  If you have specific questions that you want more elaboration on or you don't understand, then please ask those questions.

MR. VELLONE:  Okay.  I was going to try to do it efficiently, but I'll do it row by row.  Let's start with rows 13 to 15.  So, in this suggestion you're saying commitments and schedules are the same and that they are made day-ahead with a pre-dispatch process; am I reading that right?

MR. NUSBAUM:  Yes, and in the current market there is a day-ahead commitment process that provides operational commitments and advisory schedules.  And then a pre-dispatch process that transitions into the real time to facilitate actual dispatch and that is largely the same in the renewed market where there will be a day-ahead market and a pre-dispatch that, again, helps transition into real time operations.

MR. VELLONE:  But in the day-ahead commitment process commitments are hourly and in the day-ahead markets, they will look over a 27-hour period; is that right?

MR. NUSBAUM:  No.

MR. VELLONE:  Clarify.

MR. NUSBAUM:  In the day-ahead market, commitments are for a resource’s minimum generation block run time, or what we refer to as MG-BRT, in short.  But the commitment is for the physical amount of time the resource needs to be operating.  And the day-ahead market operates over the 24 hours of the dispatch day in question, not the 27 hours that I believe you're referring to is the look-ahead period for the pre-dispatch commitment process.

MR. VELLONE:  That's fair.  That's fair.  So they are different, subject to that caveat.

In addition, the day-ahead commitment process doesn't currently consider start-up costs, minimum loading point -- speed no load, but those are all now considered in the commitment process post-MRP?

MR. NUSBAUM:  No.  If I heard the question correctly, the current DACP does take into account minimum generation block run  time, minimum loading points, and operational -- or system constraints when establishing commitments, and that is not changed in the day-ahead market under MRP.  Both day-ahead processes reflect those physical parameters and system constraints when establishing commitments.

MR. VELLONE:  But there is not financially binding prices day-ahead in the DACP, whereas there would be in day-ahead market; right?

MR. NUSBAUM:  That is correct.  The schedules coming out of DACP are advisory, not financially binding like they are under the day-ahead market.

MR. VELLONE:  Okay.

MR. NUSBAUM:  The processes underlying them are very similar and not identical.  It's the financially binding nature that is the major change for the day-ahead market.

MR. VELLONE:  I'm going to just go down to rows 16 and 17.  The consideration of local transmission constraints and NQS operational characteristics, would it be fair to say that the transmission constraints are largely communicated to market participants through the use of shadow prices currently?

[Witness panel confers.]


Sorry, I might have missed a response.

MR. NUSBAUM:  Sorry, we were just conferring for a moment there.  Could I ask you to repeat the question please, John -- Mr. Vellone?

MR. VELLONE:  I'm trying to confirm if -- this statement is the consideration of local transmission constraints is considered in the current market.  And I'm asking is that currently communicated to market participants through the use of shadow prices, those constraints?

MR. NUSBAUM:  The result of those constraints can be seen in shadow prices, but those constraints are used to establish, in the constrained schedule, the commitments.  So, that's where they would be seen.

MR. VELLONE:  So, from a market participant's perspective, they could observe those shadow prices to assess their probability of meeting GCG eligibility requirements?  And if necessary, they have the flexibility to adjust their offer strategy in real time; is that right?

MR. MATSUGU:  Yeah, that's not actually how the optimization works.

MR. VELLONE:  I'm not asking about the optimization.  I'm asking what a market participant can do after they become aware what the shadow prices are, they have the ability to adjust their offers in real time after they become aware of that; right?

MR. MATSUGU:  I'm sorry, I'm trying to tie this back to the reference that you're asking about on lines 16 and 17.

MR. VELLONE:  Certainly --


MR. MATSUGU:  So, I believe the question was in regards to this point of disagreement.  And so, the point that we identified there is that, in fact, the appropriate consideration of whether or not a resource gets a schedule is on the basis of the constrained schedule.  And as you've described the shadow prices are the output of that schedule which reflect what the result of it is.

MR. VELLONE:  Correct.  And under the current market design, an NQS Generator can look at that result, the shadow prices, and they have an ability to adjust their offers in real time; correct?

MR. MATSUGU:  Those two statements are correct.

MR. VELLONE:  Thank you.  Post-MRP, under the day-ahead market, there is no similar opportunity to make adjustments to their offer strategy because it's all done as part of the day-ahead market; right?

MR. MATSUGU:  Sorry, can you elaborate -- when you mean "opportunity," what do you mean by that?

MR. VELLONE:  Constraints are now included in the optimization run in the day-ahead market, so there is no publication of a shadow price, a lag of time ability to adjust offers, change your offer in real time, that doesn't happen anymore because the constraints are built into your day-ahead market mechanism; is that right?

MR. NUSBAUM:  A resource that does not get picked up in day-ahead can still modify their offers going into pre-dispatch.

MR. VELLONE:  But that would mean they're not scheduled day-ahead; right?  You're assuming away that.

MR. MATSUGU:  I think your question was do they have an opportunity to revise their offers after day-ahead and I think what Mr. Nusbaum said was they still have that ability to do that with MRP.

MR. VELLONE:  Okay.  I'm going to stay -- I think I'm getting into where the contracts influence generator behaviour a bit, here.  So I am going to stay away from that, given the scoping decision we have, and continue to move forward.

Line 18 relates to registration of NQS operational characteristics.  And I just want to confirm, the registration items are not exactly the same, post-MRP, as they were prior.  Correct?  There are some similarities, but they are not exactly the same.

MR. NUSBAUM:  Are you referring to the two specific points referenced in lines 18 and 19?

MR. VELLONE:  No -- that says "including."  So the statement is broader than that.  I think those two actually are the same, and I am going to give you a specific of one I think is different.

MR. NUSBAUM:  Yes, I would agree.  Those two -- there's no change to those two, but there are other parameters that would be similar, if not -- but not necessarily identical.

MR. VELLONE:  Right.  An example of that would be the reference levels that you need for market power mitigation is new?

MR. NUSBAUM:  That's correct.

MR. VELLONE:  Thank you.  I think we will move on to page 4, if you are okay with that.  And specifically, I am looking at rows, kind of, 5 to 15, that middle paragraph there.  And I know you touch on this again in the descriptive evidence; we can go there if we have to.

But you make reference to various Market Surveillance Panel reports, I think as well as an Auditor General report.  And I believe all of them were filed in the brief of exhibits that the IESO kindly filed on Monday.

I am wondering if it would be helpful to produce an undertaking for the Panel of Commissioners that consolidates the critiques and recommendations related to the real-time generator cost guarantee program into a single table, together with the IESO's responses to those recommendations and what changes were made to the markets, so that the Panel can understand as of the date of the MRP amendments what of those constraints -- what of those complaints have been addressed and what of those complaints are still outstanding.

MR. ZACHER:  So, Mr. Vellone, I am not sure why you are not able to do that.  All of the reports, with the recommendations and the IESO's responses to those recommendations, are public.

MR. VELLONE:  Do you want Power Advisory to do that?

MR. ZACHER:  I am not going to tell you what you ought to do.  I am just saying that we are not going to agree to do something that you are able to do yourself.

MR. VELLONE:  Okay.  I guess, on redirect, I will go back to Power Advisory and ask them to put a table together.

MR. DUFFY:  So, Mr. Vellone, the time for your client's evidence has come and gone, so we will object to that as well.

I am not quite sure what the issue is here.  These reports are public and IESO's responses are public.  If your client had wanted to prepare summaries of that, it could have done so.  Why are you asking our witnesses to do that work?

MR. VELLONE:  Because we don't have an opportunity to reply to this evidence.  We have not been given an opportunity to reply to what is effectively reply evidence.  That's why.

MR. ZACHER:  I don't think this is the time for argument, Mr. Vellone.

MR. VELLONE:  Fine.  We will take the refusal.

Line 16 and 17 --


MS. DJURDJEVIC:  Sorry, before you move on, Mr. Vellone, let's mark this refusal, JT1.3, for the record.  That is refusal to produce a summary, a chart, setting out the Power Advisory critique and IESO's responses to same.

Did I describe that accurately?

MR. VELLONE:  No.  Do you want me to try again?

MS. DJURDJEVIC:  Please do.

MR. VELLONE:  A chart identifying the Market Surveillance Panel and Auditor General of Ontario critiques as it relates to the real-time generator cost guarantee program, the date of those critiques, together with the steps the IESO took to address those critiques and the date that those steps were implemented to address those critiques, so the OEB Panel can see what of those critiques still remain as of the date of the MRP.

MS. DJURDJEVIC:  Thank you for clarifying that.  That will be JT1.3.
UNDERTAKING JT1.3:  IESO TO CREATE AND PRODUCE A CHART IDENTIFYING THE MARKET SURVEILLANCE PANEL AND AUDITOR GENERAL OF ONTARIO CRITIQUES AS IT RELATES TO THE REAL-TIME GENERATOR COST GUARANTEE PROGRAM, THE DATE OF THOSE CRITIQUES, TOGETHER WITH THE STEPS THE IESO TOOK TO ADDRESS THOSE CRITIQUES AND THE DATE THAT THOSE STEPS WERE IMPLEMENTED TO ADDRESS THOSE CRITIQUES (REFUSED)

MS. DJURDJEVIC:  Mr. Vellone, back to you.

MR. VELLONE:  Thank you.  Lines 16 and 17 on the same page?  In that first sentence, lines 16 and 17, the IESO states its opinion that you disagree with Power Advisory's evaluation that the amendments will cause reduced commitments and dispatch of NQS resources, resulting in financial harm.  Do you see that there?

MR. NUSBAUM:  Yes.

MR. VELLONE:  Can you produce any data and analysis that you used to inform your opinion that is stated on this sentence?

MR. MATSUGU:  Yes.  I can explain the logic that goes behind the sentence.

MR. VELLONE:  Rather than spending a lot of time --


MR. MATSUGU:  No, I, it won't --


MR. VELLONE:  -- during the technical conference.

MR. MATSUGU:  It won't take me very long.

MR. VELLONE:  Sure.

MR. MATSUGU:  I think the basis of this is that there is a false equivalency between having less commitments, and that directly resulting in financial harm.  And what I mean by that, Mr. Vellone, is that for a resource, as I could have talked about earlier, that is not making an operating profit as a result of that commitment, that, in the absence of that commitment occurring, there would not be a financial harm that is incurred as a result of that commitment not happening.

So the point of disagreement is that there is a false equivalency between necessarily a resource not getting a commitment directly results in a financial harm to that resource.

Furthermore, the other point that we are disagreeing with is that there are -- in the instance where there is a replacement resource, another resource that is another NQS resource, that again, the point being in either of those instances this is a resource that is returned to a net-zero operating profit.

So with or without that commitment, it does not necessarily result in a resulting financial harm.

MR. VELLONE:  Okay.  And, by way of undertaking, can you produce any data or analysis you have to support those -- undertaking to support those conclusions?

MR. ZACHER:  Well, Mr. Vellone, to establish a proper foundation for your question, you might ask the witness whether there is any additional analysis beyond the explanation that he has given you and beyond the analysis that is contained in the evidence that you have.

MR. VELLONE:  Yeah, we can do it that way.

MS. DJURDJEVIC:  Sorry.  Just to clarify, Mr. Vellone, can you describe the undertaking, so that I don't mischaracterize it again?

MR. VELLONE:  Sorry.  Let's let the witness respond to Mr. Zacher's recharacterization of my question.

MS. DJURDJEVIC:  Okay.

MR. VELLONE:  Is there anything, in addition to what you have described?

MR. MATSUGU:  No.  On the basis of reviewing the Power Advisory evidence that links the financial harm to that reduced commitment upon the intellectual assessment of the merits of that argument, this is where we are disagreeing that, again, that a reduced commitment would necessarily result in a financial harm.

MR. VELLONE:  So there is no additional data or analysis available.  Thank you.

MR. MATSUGU:  In order for me to come to that conclusion, I do not need additional analysis or data to be able to come to that conclusion.

MR. VELLONE:  Certainly.  In order for me to test what is effectively opinion evidence you're trying to give here, I do.  And you don't have any.  That's fine.

Now, 19 to 23, so same paragraph, just a little bit further down.

MR. MATSUGU:  Okay.

MR. VELLONE:  In that sentence, you state that:
"The NQS resources will primarily see reduced commitment as a result of competition amongst NQS generators rather than between NQS generators and other resources."


Am I reading that right?

MR. MATSUGU:  More or less.

MR. VELLONE:  Okay.  What analysis or data have you looked at to arrive at that conclusion?

MR. MATSUGU:  Yes.  So, on the basis of the supply mix that Ontario has and the types of resources that we typically dispatch to meet peak demand on the system, we generally heavily rely upon our combined cycle fleet to be able to fill that need.  Ontario doesn't have a tremendous amount of other resources to be able to meet peak demand, that we could call upon.

MR. VELLONE:  But you do have other resources, dispatchable hydro, storage, peakers.  You do have other resources; right?

MR. MATSUGU:  We have a few other resources.  We have limited amount of storage in service right now.  We have a very limited number of peaker resources -- I believe what you mean by simple-cycle plants?  And, as far as that peaking hydro, typically over the course of the day, we do use as much of that energy over the course of the day from those peaking hydro resources as possible.

MR. VELLONE:  And would I be correct to conclude that, although you may not have as many of those alternative resources currently, with the current procurements that are at play and the contracts at issue, et cetera, et cetera, that we are going to get more of those resources in the future?  Is that a fair assumption?

MR. MATSUGU:  I believe our projection is that we are going to add more supply at the same time that our system demands are going to significantly increase.

MR. VELLONE:  And some of those resources are actually not NQS resources and would compete with NQS resources to supply capacity; is that right?  Storage, for example.

MR. MATSUGU:  Okay.

MR. VELLONE:  You're agreeing?  Okay.

Do you have any data or analysis that could back up the claim that competition is primarily as between NQS resources, as opposed to between NQS resources and all of these other resources that are capable of supplying capacity?

MR. MATSUGU:  As I think I said, on the basis of the resources that we currently have available in the supply mix, that, in the absence of having currently other options to be able to draw upon energy from, that the logical conclusion would therefore be that, from the existing fleet, that we would be selecting from among non-quick-start resources.

MR. VELLONE:  So there is no other data or analysis beyond your knowledge of the existing supply mix; is that right?

MR. MATSUGU:  My conclusion was based upon my knowledge of our existing available supply.

MR. VELLONE:  And you haven't performed any other studies/analysis to arrive at this conclusion; is that right?

MR. MATSUGU:  I have not.

MR. VELLONE:  And the IESO as a whole has not?

MR. MATSUGU:  I believe the analysis that you directed me to earlier could probably provide a little bit of that insight that suggests that, in that one in six commitments that were inefficient, that was replaced by a different commitment would seem to substantiate my hypothesis.

MR. VELLONE:  Seems a little self-referential to me because you're referring to an analysis that as an input only considered NQS commitments.  And I think you're going to look into that and confirm that; right?

MR. MATSUGU:  We will look into it.  I think, again, the question is:  What other resources were available to be considered to be able to dispatch to replace it?

MR. VELLONE:  Okay.  I'm going to move on, but, before I do, Ljuba, I want to do a time check.  I'm conscious that our court reporter might need a morning break, as would the witnesses, et cetera, and I could break here.  I'm just kind of marching page by page through the evidence, and, quite frankly, I'm pretty front-end loaded because I deal with a lot of my issues in the executive summary and will try to avoid dealing with them again back in the more detailed discussions.

MS. DJURDJEVIC:  So the schedule that staff circulated contemplated breaking at 11:00, but -- well, I guess, Mr. Vellone, looking to, you know, if this is a good, logically, in terms of your content, place to break, we could do that now.  Or if you -- assuming you have another 75 minutes of planned examination or --


MR. VELLONE:  Yes, I do have another 75 minutes, for sure.  Well, at the pace we're going, it's taking a little bit longer than expected.  And this is a logical place to break because my next line of questioning is all related.

MS. DJURDJEVIC:  Okay.  With no objections, why don't we do that, let's break now and return in 15 minutes.  What's that, eleven -- well, let's just say 11:10.

MR. VELLONE:  Thanks.

MS. DJURDJEVIC:  Thank you.
--- Recess taken at 10:54 a.m.
--- On resuming at 11:11 a.m.

MS DJURDJEVIC:  All here and ready to resume?  Okay.  Back to you, Mr. Vellone.

MR. VELLONE:  Thank you so much.  Same page, page 4 of the compendium filed as KT1.2.  This is the IESO evidence.  There is a note here in, I think, row 25 where there is an assertion and that assertion appears a bunch of times in the evidence so I'm going to try not to repeat it.  That the guarantee payments are intended to be revenue-neutral.  Do you see that there?

MR. MATSUGU:  Yeah.

MR. VELLONE:  Is there any specific references in the IESO Market Rules or Market Manuals to support the assertion that the RT-GCG program is, in fact, revenue neutral; and if so, can you provide those references?

MR. MATSUGU:  I think the statement is intended to describe what the intent of the cost guarantee program is.  So would you -- I can provide a description of what the intent of what that cost guarantee program is.

MR. VELLONE:  I'm trying to validate your statement about it being revenue neutral against what's written in the rules and the manuals.

MR. MATSUGU:  Sure.

MR. VELLONE:  I'm just wondering if there's any references out there.  There's no footnote on this statement.

MR. MATSUGU:  I think the statement there is the function and that's what I'd like to speak to because I think that's what you're asking me about, the validity of that statement.  So what I'll do is I'll describe what the purpose of the cost guarantee payment is and --


MR. VELLONE:  Sorry.

MR. MATSUGU:  -- and the purpose of that is that in the event that a generator sees that the IESO in the schedule is anticipating it is going to meet it, that the concern being that in the event that system conditions change and they are no longer needed, they may be operating at a negative net-revenue situation.  They may be losing money as a result of being brought online.  And the concern being that if that happens, the next time a non-quick start resource would wonder whether or not they would actually want to follow that commitment because the last time they lost money by following the dispatch instruction.

And so, the purpose of this cost guarantee payment is to not have that resource worry about if I follow that commitment, am I going to lose money?  And so, the purpose of this cost guarantee is to be able to return them back to -- to make sure that as a result of following that dispatch instruction and that commitment that they don't lose money from doing the right thing.

And that is what the -- what is meant by in that sentence there of the function of the cost guarantee payment is to, again, return them back to making sure they don't lose money as a result of following that commitment instruction from the IESO.

MR. VELLONE:  So, in your view, the function of the real-time generator cost guarantee program is revenue neutral; is that right?

MR. MATSUGU:  The intended purpose is to bring them back to make sure they don't operate at a loss.

MR. VELLONE:  Can you show me where in the Market Rules and Market Manuals that it says that the real-time generator cost guarantee program is revenue neutral?

MR. ZACHER:  Mr. Vellone, these are fact witnesses and you can just as easily look at the market rules as we can.

MR. VELLONE:  Can you confirm that it does not say that anywhere in the Market Rules and Market Manuals?

MR. ZACHER:  No, for the reasons that I just stated.  You can look at the Market Rules and you can make an argument at the conclusion of this case based on what the Market Rules say or don't say.

MR. VELLONE:  Have you undertaken any analysis of actual data to support your claim that real-time generator cost guarantee commitments are, in fact, revenue neutral?

MR. MATSUGU:  I guess what I would point to is the MSP recommendations where the criticism is that, in fact, they are not revenue neutral, in fact, compensate the resources above and beyond that return to zero operating profit.

MR. VELLONE:  So, throughout your evidence where you say the purpose -- the function is revenue neutral, in reality it is not; did I get that right?

MR. MATSUGU:  I believe that what I've said is that the intended function of a cost-guarantee payment is to return them back to being revenue neutral.  And to the extent that it doesn't, I think this is where we -- the Panel has identified that this is a deficiency in the current market that should be corrected to return them to being at a zero operating profit as a result of following the IESO dispatch instruction.

MR. VELLONE:  But it reality, it doesn't function that way, as confirmed by the MSP report; correct?

MR. MATSUGU:  That would be the deficiency that we are looking to improve.

MR. VELLONE:  Okay.  Can we go to page 5.  Starting at line 19, that paragraph down there.

MR. MATSUGU:  Yeah.

MR. VELLONE:  So, in this paragraph you're critiquing the Power Advisory analysis for using historical -- doing a historical analysis from 2018 to 2023; is that correct?

MR. MATSUGU:  I think it's just noting that, yes, using historical analysis is not necessarily a predictor of future.

MR. VELLONE:  But it is the same approach the IESO used to calculate its $190 million benefits from the enhanced unit commitment; right?

MR. MATSUGU:  Yeah, that's correct.  And I think at different points the IESO has probably also acknowledged that, you know, there is a limitation about using historical data to inform future outcomes.

MR. VELLONE:  Okay.  Can we go to page 6, please.  Lines 22 to 23.  There is a statement here that your view is the 27-hour look-ahead period -- I'm going to read the words specifically.
"Offers greater financial and operational certainty to market participants, especially to NQS generators who purchase fuel day-ahead and have long lead times and long minimum run times."

Do you see that there?

MR. MATSUGU:  Yes.

MR. VELLONE:  Did you do any analysis or can you produce any data to support the assertion that this statement is actually true, that it offers greater certainty to NQS generators?

MR. NUSBAUM:  I can't speak to what analysis was or was not done at the time of the high-level design.  But I know that was a design element that was considered, and stakeholdered, and we got feedback on and agreed on this approach.  And to the best of my knowledge, there has been no concern raised about this approach up until this point.

MR. VELLONE:  Could you produce the analysis that was, to the extent it's not already on the record, I guess, that was undertaken?

MR. ZACHER:  Well, I don't -- sorry, Mr. Vellone, I might have missed it, but I don't believe Mr. Nusbaum said there was any analysis.

MR. VELLONE:  Oh, I apologize.  Is that -- could you just -- maybe let's do it that way.  Could you confirm there is no other analysis that you're aware of that supports the assertion that the 27-hour look-ahead period offers greater financial and operational certainty to market participants, especially NQS generators?

MR. NUSBAUM:  So, just for clarity, I think the statement we've made is not solely that the 27-hour look-ahead period is what provides that greater financial and operational certainty.  It is the combination of the day-ahead market and that look-ahead period.

MR. VELLONE:  Fair.  Can you confirm there is no additional analysis or data that you used to support that conclusion?  Or, if there is, can you produce it?

MR. ZACHER:  Well, Mr. Vellone, you are getting into issues of process which are not relevant, but we will take that request under consideration -- under advisement.

MR. VELLONE:  Mr. Zacher, your client is trying to produce opinion evidence here, and I am trying to get at the analysis used to support the opinion.  That is all I am trying to do.

MR. ZACHER:  Right.  And you can ask the witnesses about the basis for the conclusions that they have expressed in the evidence.

MR. VELLONE:  That is what I am doing.  That is what I have asked.

MR. ZACHER:  Well, Mr. Vellone, as I understood it you are asking about what historical analysis there might be going back a number of years.  And, as I said, that is not relevant.  We will nonetheless take that request under advisement.

But if you want to ask questions about the conclusions that the IESO has expressed in this evidence and what the basis for those conclusions are, please ask away.

MR. VELLONE:  That is basically my question, to be honest.  What is the basis of the conclusion in this sentence?

MR. MATSUGU:  So the basis of that is that having a financial price that a resource gets a schedule on, they have the financial certainty about what price they are going to get paid, it provides them better financial certainty about what the economic outcome would be because they know the price they are going to get paid because they have locked it in, into day-ahead, as opposed to not knowing the real-time price that they are going to get paid.

And then, on the operational side, again, the better certainty that they have about the efficient optimization of the system and the scheduling, they get better visibility and certainty about how the IESO expects and will then dispatch that resource from real-time.

So, in both of those instances, this is tied to the fact that there is a better picture both financially and from an operational perspective that participants get that is a benefit to the IESO, is a benefit to participants and is a benefit to ratepayers as a result of that greater certainty.

MR. VELLONE:  Is there any other analysis beyond that logic chain that you just walked me through there?

MR. MATSUGU:  That seemed straightforward to me.

MR. VELLONE:  Have you validated that assumption with the generators themselves?

MR. MATSUGU:  This, certainly throughout the introduction of the Market Renewal Program and through the entire process, this has been something that we have identified as being a benefit.  And at no point through any of that was it identified that this would not, in fact, be the case.

MR. VELLONE:  I will leave it there.  Further down in the same paragraph, starting at lines 24 to 25:
"Furthermore, market participants may increase both their schedules in real time, creating opportunities for additional revenues."

Should I take that as a theoretical statement?  They may do it?  Or is it a statement of how it actually happens?

MR. NUSBAUM:  What that statement is trying to get at is that once they have that financially binding day-ahead schedule, there are opportunities if market demand in real time materializes or, in pre-dispatch, materializes, that there could be additional opportunities for them to earn revenue above and beyond what they have initially been scheduled for in day-ahead.

MR. VELLONE:  Okay.  So it is a theoretical opportunity.  In practice, to the extent there are incentives that cause NQS generators not to be able to do that, you would agree that that's probably -- it limits the ability -- what am I trying to get to?

Beyond what you explained to me, Mr. Nusbaum, is there any other analysis you have done to arrive at that conclusion?  I understand the logic chain.  What analysis or what data have you looked at to arrive at that conclusion?

MR. MATSUGU:  Sorry, if I may:  I believe what Mr. Nusbaum is saying is that to the extent that system conditions change -- and I think the other part is to the extent that other participants are unable to meet their day-ahead schedule as well, that there is an opportunity for a -- any type of resource, not just a non-quick start resource, but a market participant in the IESO-administered market that is dispatchable, to potentially have a higher real-time schedule than they had in day-ahead.

The likelihood that there is going to be a change in demand on the system or that there is a change in availability on the system or other system concerns is not just a hypothetical "may"; this happens every day.  There are always going to be differences between what happens in day-ahead compared to real time.

MR. NUSBAUM:  And to complete the thought I think to your question, no, we did not need to do an analysis to validate, as Darren said, that this is what happens.  This is how the market operates.  There would be no need to conduct analysis to validate, that that is how the market operates today and that is how the design will operate in the future.

MR. VELLONE:  Thank you.  Page 7, lines 7, 8, and 9 -- 7 to 9.   This statement indicates that:

"The difference is the price of energy in the current system doesn't accurately really reflect these constraints.  Under the amendments, the price of energy will reflect these constraints."

Would I be fair to characterize that to say, trying to be a bit more accurate, post-MRP, the real-time price of energy, I guess LMP, will reflect those constraints?  Is that right?

MR. MATSUGU:  Yes.

MR. VELLONE:  And in the day-ahead market, price will be set based on a modelled expectation of those constraints.  Is that correct?

MR. NUSBAUM:  A modelled expectation?

MR. VELLONE:  Is that correct?  Sorry, I didn't hear a full response.  Or?

MR. NUSBAUM:  Sorry.  I was saying I am not clear what the question is trying to get at, regarding a modelled expectation.  I think all of our constraints are modelled expectations.

MR. VELLONE:  But the model that is being used, day-ahead, by necessity of time will be different than the one that's happening in real time.  Is that right?

MR. MATSUGU:  Sorry, I am not sure what you mean.  Can you rephrase the question?

MR. VELLONE:  I asked if the real-time price of energy, locational marginal price, will reflect the system constraints that are referenced in the evidence here.  And I believe the answer I got back was yes.

MR. MATSUGU:  Sure, yes.

MR. VELLONE:  And then I asked, however, day-ahead, the day-ahead market, price will be set based on modelled expectations of those constraints, not the same -- exact same constraints as what are impacting the real-time market price; is that right?

MR. MATSUGU:  I think I am just stuck on when you say "modelled expectations."  Expectations of what?

MR. VELLONE:  The constraints.  You are trying to predict, the day later, what the constraints will be.

MR. MATSUGU:  So what day-ahead will do is on the basis of the information that is available at the time to the IESO, that is what would be represented there.  And to the extent that system conditions change or there are differences in availability or transmission availability or any of those things, those would be different than the inputs used in the day-ahead optimization.

MR. VELLONE:  Thank you.  Moving on, kind of the paragraph beginning at row 18, staying here on page 7, and specifically at row 20 and 21, you say:
"NQS generators are not obligated to use three-part offers."

Do you see that there?

MR. MATSUGU:  Yes.

MR. VELLONE:  And I assume, given the scoping decision we've got, when you say that you mean they're not obligated to do that under the Market Rules and you're not commenting at all on the procurement contracts; is that right?

MR. NUSBAUM:  That's correct.

MR. VELLONE:  And so, to the extent it happens to be prohibited under the procurement contract, you're not speaking to that?

MR. NUSBAUM:  Correct.

MR. VELLONE:  And you're careful to say that three-part offers are not obligated under the Market Rules, so I want to ask a specific question.  Are NQS resources financially incentivized, under the Market Rules, to utilize three-part offers?

MR. MATSUGU:  Mr. Vellone, can you expand on -- what do you mean by "incentivize"?

MR. VELLONE:  You are suggesting a theoretical, you know:  NQS generators are not obligated to use the three-part offers.  And I am trying to get to practice.  What are the actual signals you're sending to market participants under the Market Rules?

And I'm asking you:  Are you signalling through the incentives that are provided under the Market Rules that NQS resources probably would be better off to use three-part offers?

MR. MATSUGU:  Ah, I see.  Okay.  So I think I will go back to my description about what the function of the Real-Time Generation Cost Guarantee Program is, which is to provide some assurance that, in the event that that resource gets a commitment, that they will follow that commitment and not be at risk of operating at a loss as a result of meeting that commitment.  I just want to make sure it's clear.  The incentive there is to manage the risk about operating at a loss.  The IESO is -- this is not an incentive in the sense that we're trying -- that it is an inducement from a financial perspective.  It is actually to give the IESO the assurance that a generator is not going to think twice and worry about:  Should I follow through on this commitment or not.

MR. VELLONE:  Right.  So NQS resources are incentivized because they would be eligible for cost-guarantee payments.  I think that's what you just said.  And I guess they would also be  incentivized -- would they also be incentivized through the market power mitigation framework, just because start-up costs are not part of the reference price and therefore they get excluded?

MR. MATSUGU:  I'm not sure what you mean by that.

MR. VELLONE:  I'll leave it as is.  I don't want to spend a lot of time on it.

MR. MATSUGU:  Mr. Vellone, I just want to be clear about the use of the word "incentivize" because, again, to the extent that the generator wants to -- is concerned about meeting that commitment and operating at a loss, that this is a way for the IESO to manage the concern that a generator may not deliver on that commitment.

So, "incentivize," like that's -- I'm not sure how you want to interpret the application of the word "incentivize" there.

MR. VELLONE:  I will deal with that in argument.

MR. MATSUGU:  Okay.

MR. VELLONE:  If an NQS resource chose not to use a three-part offer, then they would have to incorporate things like their start-up costs and their energy-only offer; isn't that right?

MR. NUSBAUM:  No.

MR. VELLONE:  Explain, please.

MR. NUSBAUM:  They could decide whether or not to operate based on their view of the amount of revenue they would earn in the market and if they would be able to recoup those other costs.  They're not obligated to do that; they would not have to do it.

MR. VELLONE:  But they risk running at a loss if they don't?

MR. NUSBAUM:  Yes, they could always -- that is the risk.  That is the intent of the program.

MR. VELLONE:  Okay.  And, prior to MRP, NQS resources did not need to incorporate these start-up costs into their energy offers; is that right?

MR. NUSBAUM:  Again, I -- they do not need to do it now; it is available to them, but there is not an obligation to do it.

MR. VELLONE:  Can you provide any information, data, evidence on the number of NQS generators that currently participate in the day-ahead commitment price process using only incremental energy offers and not relying at all on the cost-guarantee program?

MR. ZACHER:  Mr. Vellone, are you asking the witnesses whether they have knowledge of that, or are you asking if they go and find the data and produce it?

MR. VELLONE:  The latter.

MR. ZACHER:  No.

MR. VELLONE:  Can we get the refusal marked?

MS. DJURDJEVIC:  That will be JT1.4.  Mr. Vellone, if you can, describe it for the record.

MR. VELLONE:  Can the IESO provide any information or data on the number of NQS generators that currently participate in the day-ahead commitment process on an incremental-energy-offer-only basis, without reliance on the Generator Cost Guarantee program?  Thank you.
UNDERTAKING JT1.4:  IESO TO PROVIDE ANY INFORMATION OR DATA ON THE NUMBER OF NQS GENERATORS THAT CURRENTLY PARTICIPATE IN THE DAY-AHEAD COMMITMENT PROCESS ON AN INCREMENTAL-ENERGY-OFFER-ONLY BASIS, WITHOUT RELIANCE ON THE GENERATOR COST GUARANTEE PROGRAM (REFUSED)

MR. VELLONE:  Page 8, line 8.  So, here, I see a conclusion that:  The recent increases in the day-ahead commitments are not a historical aberration but enduring structural change caused by improvements to the IESO's process for administering cost-guarantee compensation for NQS resources.

Do you see that, --


MR. MATSUGU:  Yes.

MR. VELLONE:  -- what I just quoted from there?

MR. MATSUGU:  Yes.

MR. VELLONE:  What analysis have you done to arrive at the conclusion that there is a causal link between the changes to the generator cost-guarantee program and the change in DACP commitments, as opposed to it just being a correlation, as opposed to it just happening to happen at the same time?

MR. MATSUGU:  Are you asking on what basis did we come to the logical conclusion -- sorry, can you repeat the question?

MR. VELLONE:  Yes.  At row 12, you're saying the change to commitment pattern is caused by improvements to the IESO's process for administering cost-guarantee compensation for NQS generators.  And I am asking what analysis you've done to arrive at the conclusion that that linkage is causal, that there is a causal link, not simply a correlation --


MR. MATSUGU:  I see.  Okay.

MR. VELLONE:  -- a timing link.

MR. MATSUGU:  I understand.  Okay.  So, of course, being concerned that it's not just a -- it just didn't happen concurrently.  Okay.  So, I think the basis for that conclusion probably comes back to what the underlying nature of that change to the real-time generator cost guarantee program was.  And so, just as a little bit of background, prior to that change, non-quick start generators that got a commitment were able to submit their costs associated with that after the fact.  And the IESO would reimburse them for those costs.

The audit findings associated with that practice found that those costs that were submitted -- I'm going to paraphrase what the finding of that work was, but those costs were significantly higher than what was appropriate to be recovered.  So, as a result of that change, the IESO moved to a pre-approved mechanism for establishing what those costs would be.  And the opportunity associated with submitting inappropriately high costs was eliminated.

So, while there is the correlation in terms of the timing, I think the basis for our conclusion was logically that as the opportunity to use that previous regime compared to one that returns them to an appropriate level of cost provided an incentive to no longer get a commitment through that mechanism as opposed to through the day-ahead process.

MR. VELLONE:  And beyond that logic link that you just walked me through --

MR. MATSUGU:  Yeah.

MR. VELLONE:  -- is there any additional data or analysis that you've done to support this conclusion?

MR. MATSUGU:  Well, so what we reported was that as of that time there is a big change between the number of commitments triggered under day-ahead versus real-time.  So, I believe that that analysis supports that conclusion.

MR. VELLONE:  Could you produce that?

MR. MATSUGU:  I believe that's what we identified in the evidence.

MR. VELLONE:  Sorry, the analysis demonstrates a causal linkage?

MR. MATSUGU:  No, I think I explained to you the causal linkage.

MR. VELLONE:  That's all I'm focused on here.  I understand the correlation.

MR. MATSUGU:  Okay.

MR. VELLONE:  Is there any data or analysis to support the causal linkage beyond the logic chain that you just very eloquently elaborated on?

MR. MATSUGU:  No, that would be the analysis.

MR. VELLONE:  Thank you.  Flip ahead to page 11.  I'm looking at the statement at lines 4 through 7 where the IESO asserts the day-ahead schedules will be financially finding in a way that the DACP schedules are not.  The amendments do not change the fundamental function of the pre-dispatch process as a means to transition from day-ahead to real-time while responding to changing conditions; do you see that there?

MR. NUSBAUM:  Yes.

MR. VELLONE:  I want to briefly explore the change in treatment of exports arising under MRP and how that does or does not impact the assertion in this statement.  Are you familiar with how the treatment of exports changed from pre-MRP to post?

MR. NUSBAUM:  At a high level.

MR. VELLONE:  That's the best I can do, so I think we'll be fine.  Is my understanding correct that exports in Ontario typically participate -- do they participate in DACP currently or do they wait until pre-dispatch 10 typically?

MR. NUSBAUM:  Generally they have been participating more in pre-dispatch than in day-ahead.

MR. VELLONE:  Do you have a sense of what the proportion of exports currently participate pre-dispatch versus day-ahead or could you look it up maybe?

MR. NUSBAUM:  I don't have that information.

MR. MATSUGU:  I would say anecdotally very few, because they do not have the financial certainty of the price that they're locking -- they would be scheduled at and so --

MR. VELLONE:  Sorry, when you say "very few," you mean a very small percentage of the exports would participate in the day-ahead process; is that what you mean?

MR. MATSUGU:  Based upon my understanding, yes.

MR. VELLONE:  And that's an anecdotal -- that's probably fine for my purposes.  I don't need you to go get the actual numbers.

MR. MATSUGU:  Sorry, Mr. Vellone, where I was going to is -- and the reason why they don't is they don't have the financial certainty about the price that that transaction would be locked in.  So, back to perhaps our earlier conversation about the financial benefit, that's the reason why they don't participate.

MR. VELLONE:  Understood, thank you.

And I guess the result of that treatment -- the incentives provided to exports and how they show up in pre-dispatch is a bundle of demand that doesn't exist day-ahead but that could be met by NQS resources in real-time through the cost guarantee program currently; is that right?

MR. MATSUGU:  Not limited to.

MR. VELLONE:  Oh, yeah, okay.  Could be met by NQS resources or other resources in the real-time schedule; is that right?

MR. MATSUGU:  Mm-hmm.

MR. NUSBAUM:  Correct.

MR. VELLONE:  And post-MRP, exports will now be incentivized to participate in the day-ahead market; is that right?

MR. MATSUGU:  Again, they -- the benefit of being able to lock in that price and so it is more likely they will participate in the day-ahead timeframe.

MR. VELLONE:  Thank you.

MR. MATSUGU:  Because they know the price that they will be having to buy from the market at.

MR. VELLONE:  Thank you.  Staying on page 11 but going down to row 19 there is a statement there that says:
"ISOs and RTOs in the United States use shorter look-ahead periods because they are less reliant than Ontario on combined cycle gas plants to meet peak demand."

Do you see that there?

MR. NUSBAUM:  Yes.

MR. VELLONE:  Can you -- what analysis did you do to arrive at that assertion?

MR. MATSUGU:  On the basis of -- do you mean when we look at other jurisdictions and how they plan and actually dispatch their system to be able to meet system demand?

MR. VELLONE:  Yeah.  I'm asking how you arrived at such a strong assertion that they are less reliant than Ontario on combined cycle gas plants to meet peak demand.  What analysis did you do?

MR. MATSUGU:  On the basis of the -- both the operation of those systems and the way that they historically have planned their systems.

MR. VELLONE:  And nothing beyond that kind of anecdotal understanding of how they run their systems?

MR. ZACHER:  Well, he didn't say "anecdotal," Mr. Vellone.

MR. VELLONE:  Okay.  So what is it then?

MR. MATSUGU:  So, if you were to look at the way that those other jurisdictions schedule and dispatch their resources, that would be the basis to come to that conclusion.

MR. VELLONE:  Can you show me data that supports that conclusion?

MR. MATSUGU:  Yeah.  So other jurisdictions similar to the IESO publish the resources that get scheduled in their systems.  So if you were to look to see how those resources are typically scheduled, you will find that combined cycle plant resources are scheduled quite differently than the way that we use them in Ontario.

MR. VELLONE:  Great.  Then you would be able to provide an undertaking to produce data to support your conclusion in this assertion?

MR. ZACHER:  I think Mr. Matsugu said the information is published, Mr. Vellone.  So it has been available to you and your experts.

MR. VELLONE:  It is not, and we don't agree with the conclusion.  So we are trying to figure out what you are looking at to figure out what we don't agree with.

MR. MATSUGU:  Sorry --


MR. VELLONE:  What are you looking at?

MR. MATSUGU:  Sorry --


MR. ZACHER:  Sorry.  Mr. Matsugu said the information is published.  So if you want to ask him more questions about that, go ahead.  But...

MR. VELLONE:  Provide a specific list of the U.S. ISOs and RTOs that you considered in making this assertion.

MR. DUFFY:  So, hold on.  Mr. Vellone, let's put this in context.  This is a response to an assertion made by Power Advisory which did not specify the ISOs and RTOs it looked at, and did not specify the data it looked at or obtained.

I don't think it is fair to then say to our witness that they should go off and do work that your witness could have done.

MR. VELLONE:  Your witness is making an assertion, Mr. Duffy, that my witnesses cannot corroborate because we do not have the underlying data and analysis that supports the assertion.  We can't even assess it, right now, because it is just a sentence in a report.

MR. MATSUGU:  So other markets provide transparency about the scheduling of the resources that they use in their markets.  So, as far as I am aware of, that information is available from those other jurisdictions because they make that information public, similar to the IESO, in what resources are scheduled and what aren't.

MR. VELLONE:  And would you be willing to consolidate the information you considered into evidence in this proceeding that would support the conclusion and assertion you are making at lines 19 to 20 of page 11?

MR. ZACHER:  We will take that under advisement, Mr. Vellone.

MS. DJURDJEVIC:  Mark that JT1.5.
UNDERTAKING JT1.5:  IESO TO CONSOLIDATE THE INFORMATION IT CONSIDERED INTO EVIDENCE IN THE PROCEEDING THAT WOULD SUPPORT ITS CONCLUSION AND ASSERTION (UNDER ADVISEMENT)


MR. VELLONE:  Page 12, lines 1 and 2, there is a statement that:

"The IESO sees no reason to believe that the 27-hour look-ahead period will cause any negative financial impacts to the NQS' resources."

What's the basis of that conclusion?

MR. NUSBAUM:  So that statement is based on that we did not see anything in the evidence that would point to any negative financial impacts to the NQS group's resources.

MR. VELLONE:  So it is specific to your review of the Power Advisory evidence?  Did I get that right?

MR. MATSUGU:  That is correct, that this response is that there is nothing that established what the direct linkage is between the look-ahead period that would trigger a negative financial impact.

MR. VELLONE:  Did you do any of your own modelling or assessment to arrive at that conclusion?  Or is it just an analysis of what is in Power Advisory's opinion evidence?

MR. MATSUGU:  Upon the review of the Power Advisory evidence, we were unable to see where there is a linkage between the look-ahead period and the claim of a negative financial impact.

MR. VELLONE:  But you haven't done any analysis to confirm that?

MR. MATSUGU:  Analysis of what?

MR. VELLONE:  We have gone through this, Mr. Matsugu.  I asked you if you would be willing --


MR. MATSUGU:  No.  I mean specifically for the look-ahead periods, because I don't know what the analysis of what -- what is the linkage.  So I don't know specifically what analysis that you are asking for, because I don't know what the hypothetical link between the look-ahead period and a financial impact would be.

MR. VELLONE:  I am trying to understand what analysis, if any, that is not in this report you have done to arrive at the -- to understand whether or not there is an increased financial risk or negative financial impacts to NQS resources arising from the 27-hour look-ahead period.  If there is none, that is fine.  I can move on.

MR. MATSUGU:  I am unable to do an analysis for something that I am not sure what I am analyzing.

MR. VELLONE:  I will take that.

Can we go to page 13, please, row 17?  In this paragraph, you compare commitments as between NQS resources with commitments -- competition as amongst NQS resources versus competition between NQS resources and other resources.  Do you see that there?

MR. MATSUGU:  Mm-hmm.

MR. VELLONE:  I am just trying to figure out if you have done any analysis on the percentage of commitments or percentage of circumstances where it would be NQS competing within -- as between each other, within a class, versus NQS trading with other resources, be it hydro, be it storage, be it gas-peakers, other resources.

MR. MATSUGU:  I believe this is similar to the conversation that we had earlier.

MR. VELLONE:  And so the answer was no.  Right?

MR. MATSUGU:  Actually, I believe the answer was that when you referred back to the -- oh, goodness, that first conversation we had with that memo from the benefits analysis, where the analysis that was provided there was that one in six of those commitments were inefficient and would be replaced by a different dispatch.

And so I believe the question there was, well, we were going to check to see to what extent we had information about whether or not that would be replaced by an NQS resource or any available -- any other available resource.

MR. VELLONE:  Sorry, I don't quite see the two as the same.  In one case, I was asking you about the assumptions being made for the purposes of the benefit calculation.

MR. MATSUGU:  Mm-hmm.

MR. VELLONE:  And did you assume as a starting point that it is all within the same NQS class or not?  When you picked your dataset, did you only look at 1,300 NQS commitments and nothing else?  And you said probably yes, and I actually read it as probably yes, as well.  I just wanted to confirm.

That is different in kind from the assertion that is now being made on this page that the IESO expects it will primarily be a result of competition amongst NQS generators.  So you are saying primarily as a result of inter-class competition?

MR. MATSUGU:  Mm-hmm.

MR. VELLONE:  I'm asking what analysis and data you have used to arrive at the conclusion that it will be inter-class competition, not between classes.

MR. MATSUGU:  I see, okay.  So then I will refer to my previous answer about the limited availability of other peaking resources that would be available to substitute for those commitments.

MR. VELLONE:  But they exist, and there are going to be more of them, more storage at least, going forward?

MR. MATSUGU:  I believe your question was:  What basis did we provide this conclusion.  And I believe my response to that other point was that there are other resources; we have a limited number of simple-cycle peakers.  And, as I also noted, that, even with our hydro fleet, those resources exist, but, for the most part, we try to use that energy available over the course of the day.

So, to the extent that there is unused energy available from those resources, that would be something for consideration, but whether or not that would be sufficient to displace a full NQS resource, I think that this is where we're saying that the first place that the optimization would look for would be another NQS resource that is not committed.

MR. VELLONE:  Okay.  If I got that right, it is all based on your assumptions and expectations around the current supply mix and who may or may not be substituted at a given point in time, but there are no -- have you produced any data or analysis to support that?

MR. MATSUGU:  It's based upon my expert understanding of the available resources in our system and how our optimization works and what is submitted to the IESO as part of the ongoing administration of our market.

MR. VELLONE:  Thank you.

Mr. Zacher, do you intend to qualify these witnesses as experts?

MR. ZACHER:  They are witnesses that have expertise, Mr. Vellone, as is evident by their CVs.  I don't intend to qualify them as independent experts, if that's what you're asking.

MR. VELLONE:  What do you expect regarding the Board's treatment of admissibility of opinion evidence from these individuals?

MR. ZACHER:  This is not the time or place to discuss that.

MR. VELLONE:  Fine.  I'll move on.  Could we go to page 15, please.  At the bottom of this page, footnote no. 10, there is a lengthy footnote, and I'm going to try to direct our attention to a sentence that begins at the fourth-bottom line, that starts with:
"While the cost of make-whole payments will drop dramatically with a [Single Schedule Market] in place..."

And then the balance of the statement.  Do you see that there?

MR. MATSUGU:  Yes.

MR. VELLONE:  Can you confirm that this drop in make-whole payments, this dramatic drop in make-whole payments, may come at the expense of NQS generators?

MR. MATSUGU:  So I believe the statement or the sentence is in the context of the sentences above, which is talking about in relation to CMSC.

MR. VELLONE:  Not GCG?

MR. MATSUGU:  Given the preceding sentences, I believe that's in the context of CMSC.

MR. VELLONE:  So your assertion is the statement, "While the cost of make-whole payments will drop dramatically with a [Single Schedule Market] is in place," that will be limited to CMSC and not extend to Generator Cost Guarantee make-whole payments; is that right?

MR. MATSUGU:  I believe so because I think the last part of that sentence is referring to that, in the event that we have to manually dispatch a resource that was not dispatched economically in the single-schedule market, again, we want to make sure that, if we have to take that out-of-market reliability action, that a participant actually follows that instruction.  So, in that instance, we would give them a make-whole.

A way that we do that right now is through CMSC, and we want that to continue in the future, and that's what that last sentence is acknowledging.

MR. VELLONE:  That's helpful.  I read it as applying to GCG, but I think, having read it again and listening to your explanation, I think I understand now its intent was limited to CMSCs.  Thank you.

Can we flip ahead to page 17, lines 18, 19, and 20.  In this statement, you say:
"Amendments do not limit NQS resources' commitment opportunities 'when compared to other supply resources' because other supply resources are not eligible for commitments."

Do you see that?

MR. NUSBAUM:  Yes.

MR. VELLONE:  Is that because a quick-start generator, for example, would receive a schedule and not a commitment?  Is that correct?

MR. NUSBAUM:  Yes, only NQS resources are the only ones eligible to receive commitments.

MR. VELLONE:  Right.  So, to the extent a quick-start resource is scheduled, that will result in fewer commitments for NQS resources; is that fair?

MR. NUSBAUM:  I don't know that that was a scenario -- are you saying any time that a quick-start resource is scheduled, are you implying that means that it will not be an NQS?  I would say that is not true.

MR. VELLONE:  What I'm trying to ask is:  If a quick-start resource is scheduled, there will be fewer available commitments that NQS generators could take advantage of; is that true?

MR. NUSBAUM:  I don't believe so.

MR. VELLONE:  Why not?

MR. NUSBAUM:  What is the base that you're starting from?  You're saying, if a quick-start resource is scheduled, it means it's taking away from an NQS.  That is -- that quick-start was going to be scheduled either way.  I wouldn't phrase it, our position, as taking away an opportunity from an NQS resource.

MR. VELLONE:  Maybe we're getting stuck in semantics.  I'm not going to spend too much time on it.  Can we flip to page 20.  And this might just be me tripping up over the choice of language here.  It says:
"The IESO sees no reason [it] should favour an NQS resource with higher total costs over an NQS resource with lower total costs."

Do you see that there?

MR. NUSBAUM:  Yes.

MR. VELLONE:  Would the same statement be true if you just deleted "NQS" from that sentence?

So:  The IESO sees no reason why the IESO should favour a resource with higher total costs over a resource with lower total costs.  Is that really what you're trying to say here?

MR. NUSBAUM:  I would say, at a very high level, that is the approach when we're trying to ensure reliability at lowest cost.  Yes, we are not trying to favour any resource.  We are trying to meet system needs at a lowest cost.

MR. VELLONE:  Okay.  Thanks.  I'm trying to understand whether that is just a general statement and not specific to our group.

Page 22, lines 11 to 14.  So you are stating the disagreement that NQS generators will be negatively financially impacted when the RT-GCG costs are replaced by GOG cost guarantee.  On what are you basing that disagreement?  Like, what's the basis for that assertion, I guess?

MR. MATSUGU:  I think the basis for that assertion was in response to Power Advisory's assertion that the NQS would be worse off.

MR. VELLONE:  Right.  And you're saying they're not.  How are you arriving at that conclusion?

MR. MATSUGU:  Well, on the basis of that we did not see anything in the evidence that identified why making the change from the real-time -- from the replacement of those makes them worse off for the reason that I described before that if the cost guarantee is intended to be -- return the resource back to a zero operating profit, then the mechanism to be able to do that, it's not -- we didn't see anything in the evidence that was provided that would lead one to the conclusion that, as a result of that change, that they are negatively financially impacted.

MR. VELLONE:  Okay.  So it's based on that theoretical premise that the cost guarantee program is revenue neutral; right?

MR. MATSUGU:  I'm sorry, can you repeat the question?

MR. VELLONE:  Your conclusion stated in this sentence that I've drawn your attention to at lines 11 to 14 is premised on the theoretical assumption that the cost guarantee program is revenue neutral; correct?

MR. MATSUGU:  The theoretical -- I don't think it's theoretical.  I think what I've described is what the intent of a cost guarantee program is.

MR. VELLONE:  So, in the Market Surveillance Panel subsequently critiques the cost guarantee program for weakening incentives, for NQS resources to participate economically in the day-ahead process, for providing what they call an economic payments --


MR. MATSUGU:  Mm-hmm.

MR. VELLONE:  -- that's not revenue neutral, right, that's more than revenue neutral?

MR. MATSUGU:  I believe what the Panel is trying to say is the financial outcome doesn't match what the intent is trying to do.

MR. VELLONE:  Right.  So, in reality --


MR. ZACHER:  Sorry, Mr. Vellone, could you let the witness finish his answer?

MR. VELLONE:  Yeah, that's fine.

MR. MATSUGU:  So, the point is it's not a theoretical.  That's the objective of it and the Panel's criticism is that it fails to do that efficiently and accepting that that's the intended purpose of it, that a more efficient way to achieve that would be to adopt the recommendations that they've identified.

MR. VELLONE:  So, I'm going to come back to this at page 22, lines 11 to 14.  Beyond what you've explained to me, what other analysis have you done to arrive at the conclusion that NQS generators will not be negatively financially impacted when RT-GCG is replaced with the GOG cost guarantee program?

MR. MATSUGU:  On reviewing the evaluation that was put forward, it does not appear that, on the basis of that, that there is a negative financial impact.

MR. VELLONE:  So you did none of your own analysis; you reviewed what Power Advisory did?

MR. MATSUGU:  That is what our response to the evidence is.

MR. VELLONE:  Thanks.  Flip ahead to page 25, lines 23 and 24.  At that kind of part of the paragraph you state that:
"This conduct would result in inefficient outcomes and increased cost for all resources."

Do you see that there?  You can take a moment if you need to situate yourself in this paragraph as well.  Let me know when you're ready.


MR. MATSUGU:  Okay.

MR. VELLONE:  Okay.  When you're making this statement, you're not considering the impact of any financial incentives the NQS generators may have under their CES contracts; is that correct?

MR. MATSUGU:  Yeah, yes.

MR. VELLONE:  So it's possible that what you would view as financially inefficient for an NQS generator may, in fact, be optimal depending on what their contract does; is that fair?

MR. ZACHER:  Well, Mr. Vellone, this is getting well beyond scope.

MR. VELLONE:  I am not sure it is, Mr. Zacher.  Your client's the one who's made an assertion that the conduct would result in inefficient outcomes for my client group, for NQS generators, for everybody, for all resources.

MR. DUFFY:  Sorry, Mr. Vellone, where does it say that?

MR. VELLONE:  It says:
"This conduct will result in inefficient outcomes and increased costs for all resources."

"For all resources," I read that as including NQS resources.

MR. MATSUGU:  Thanks for that.  So, I think the context that we -- that sentence there, "this conduct would result in inefficient outcomes and increased costs..." I believe that the reference for "all resources" is in reference to -- for the IESO-administered market as a whole.

MR. VELLONE:  You're not trying to suggest that it would be inefficient for a particular NQS generator to engage in this conduct?

MR. MATSUGU:  Yeah.  I believe this sentence is intended to communicate about the overall inefficiency of that outcome for the IESO-administered market.

MR. VELLONE:  That clarification is helpful, thank you.

MR. MATSUGU:  I appreciate that.  Thank you.

MR. VELLONE:  Can we flip ahead to page 31.  I'm nearly done and then Mr. Boyle has a few questions.  On row 17 you indicated that:
"On average PD-3 energy prices were $15/MWh higher than day-ahead prices."

Do you see that there?

MR. MATSUGU:  Yes.

MR. VELLONE:  Could part of the reason for that be that exports are not required to participate in day-ahead commitment process, but they do participate pre-dispatch?

MR. MATSUGU:  Yeah.

MR. VELLONE:  All right.  Thanks.  43, we're into the only two questions I have on MPM.  Rows 4 to 7.  I know this is embedded, but in the reference you gave us to chapter 7, appendix 7.6, but perhaps just confirm for the benefit of the Panel that current day-ahead process commitments are only subject to market power mitigation currently to the extent they result in CMSC payments; is that correct?

MR. NUSBAUM:  Yeah, I think we would need to validate that.  I don't think either of us are prepared to make a definitive statement that it is only limited to CMSC.

MR. VELLONE:  Okay.  Do you want to undertake to do that validation process and let me know?

MR. ZACHER:  We will do that.

MS. DJURDJEVIC:  That will be JT1.6.

MR. VELLONE:  Thank you.
UNDERTAKING JT1.6:  IESO TO CONDUCT A VALIDATION PROCESS RE CMSC

MR. VELLONE:  When you are doing that, what I am really trying to get to is start-up costs are not included in mitigation under the current framework.  So, to the extent you can think about where I am going with this, that would be helpful.

MR. NUSBAUM:  Understood.

MR. VELLONE:  Thanks.  My last question, and then I will turn it over to Mr. Boyle.  Page 45, line 15, is a pretty strong assertion:

"Same answer, incorrect and unsubstantiated."

So I guess I am trying to reconcile this difference in views as between our experts and the IESO witnesses.  And I am wondering if there is data we can tap into to help the Commissioners reconcile this.

And specifically I am wondering if there is data available on the total dollar amount of ex-ante or ex-post -- ex-ante mitigation or ex-post settlement adjustments under the current day-ahead commitment process using the current market power and mitigation regime for the 2018 to 2023 time frame, total aggregates, how much was mitigated.

Is that possible to pull together?

MR. ZACHER:  Sorry.  Mr. Vellone, could you just clarify that, exactly what you are asking?  I apologize.

MR. VELLONE:  Okay.  So I will -- yes, that's okay.

I am asking if the IESO can provide the total dollar amounts of ex-ante mitigation or ex-post settlement adjustments under the current day-ahead commitment process, under the current market power mitigation regime for the 2018 to 2023 time frame.

MR. MATSUGU:  Sorry, you included ex-ante in there.  We don't have ex-ante mitigation right now.  So I am not sure --


MR. VELLONE:  So then the dollar amount is zero.  And so then you are answering just ex-post.  Is that right?

MR. MATSUGU:  I want to make sure I understand what the request is.  So, sorry, can you repeat that?

MR. VELLONE:  Provide the dollar amount --


MR. MATSUGU:  Yes?

MR. VELLONE:  -- of ex-ante mitigation, which you confirmed is zero --


MR. MATSUGU:  Well, I haven't confirmed.  I just want to make sure I understood what you are asking for.

MR. VELLONE:  Sure, yes.  Ex-ante mitigation or ex-post settlement adjustments under the day-ahead commitment process under the current market power mitigation regime for the 2018 to 2023 time frame.

MR. ZACHER:  What is the purpose of that request, Mr. Vellone?

MR. VELLONE:  The evidence that your witnesses are disagreeing with, starting at the top of the page 45, states:
"The MRP amendments are implementing an extensive MPM framework that currently does not exist and will negatively impact NQS generators..."

It then goes on and explains what Power Advisory's views are.  Continuing all the way down to the end, we are at row 15.  Your witnesses state:
"These statements are incorrect and unsubstantiated."

They do not identify which of the statements are incorrect or unsubstantiated.  And so I am left struggling with how to reconcile the IESO witnesses' assertions with the Power Advisory evidence, and I am trying to elicit the extent to which there is mitigation -- evidence of the extent to which there is mitigation today, so the panel can understand what the current mitigation framework contemplates and they can assess the validity of the claim that there is negative financial impacts to NQS generators going forward.

MR. ZACHER:  Well, Mr. Vellone, the evidence explains in some detail the reasons for the IESO's conclusions.  And so you might want to ask about what the -- you may want to ask questions about that evidence, which you haven't done.

I don't know what the purpose would be of asking for the dollar figures relating to ex-post mitigation over the historical period, 2018 to 2023, how that is relevant.  What are you proposing to compare that to?

MR. VELLONE:  So, when you go back to the top --


MR. ZACHER:  How would you produce --


MR. VELLONE:  So, sure, let me try to do this without the undertaking, Mr. Zacher --


MR. ZACHER:  Yes.

MR. VELLONE:  -- and see if I can get there.  If I go to the top of the Power Advisory quote, there is a sentence that says:

"The MRP amendments are implemented in an extensive MPM framework that currently does not exist and will negatively impact NQS generators."

Do you see that sentence there?

MR. ZACHER:  Yes.

MR. VELLONE:  When the IESO witnesses say these statements are incorrect and unsubstantiated, does that apply to this first sentence?  Are you disagreeing with the premise that market power -- that MRP is implementing -- MRP, an extensive MPM framework that does not currently exist and will negatively impact NQS generators?

That first sentence, are you disagreeing with the sentence?

MR. ZACHER:  Well, I think you should ask the witnesses that --


MR. VELLONE:  Yes, for sure.

MR. ZACHER:  -- and then ask them what the reasons are for their conclusions.

MR. VELLONE:  Yes.  Are you disagreeing with that first sentence?

MR. MATSUGU:  Yes.

MR. VELLONE:  To what extent?  Yes, why?

MR. MATSUGU:  I think it is specifically the assertion that the implementation of that market power mitigation framework would necessarily negatively impact the Non-Quick Start generators.

MR. VELLONE:  It is the part of the sentence after the word, "and",  "...and will negatively impact NQS generators."  That part you disagree with?

MR. MATSUGU:  Yes.

MR. VELLONE:  Okay.  So I guess what I am trying to get at, Mr. Zacher, is the extent to which the current market power mitigation framework negatively impacts market participants on the one hand and the extent to which the MPM framework post-MRP amendments could negatively impact market participants, including NQS generators.  I am trying to get a before; I can't get an after because we haven't done it yet.

MR. ZACHER:  Right.

MR. MATSUGU:  Yes.  So I think that's the other part of the part that's not substantiated -- or at least I have been unable to confirm, is to what extent under the current ex-post mitigation are the NQS generators benefitting from that ex-post regime and to what extent, after the fact, moving to an ex-ante that they would no longer be able to benefit from a different way of trying to mitigate the exercise of market power.

That was the part that we were unable to ascertain from the evidence provided about what was the before and after as far as the current benefit or status from the NQS generators.  It would be helpful for us to understand how they could be negatively impacted with or without -- or moving from ex-post to ex-ante mitigation.

MR. VELLONE:  So are you able to provide the five years of market-power mitigation under the day-ahead commitment process for the 2018 to 2023 time frame, or is it a refusal?

MR. ZACHER:  Mr. Vellone, the evidence is replete with explanations as to why the IESO disagrees with the evidence of Power Advisory.  It is explained.  You have not demonstrated why getting dollar-amount data with regards to the period 2018 to 2023 is relevant.  And, frankly, if you thought it was relevant -- I can't sit here scratching my head thinking of why it would be -- that was something that you could have requested, your experts could have requested before they put together their opinion.

MR. VELLONE:  We did request it.  We sent a laundry list of additional information requests in addition to the information you were asked to produce by way of your licence.  The IESO refused to respond to any of those requests, so we are left this far along in the process, where this is the first opportunity I have had, now, to ask this question.

MR. DUFFY:  Mr. Vellone, to be clear, the IESO refused, and the Board supported that refusal.

MR. VELLONE:  And this is now the first time that I have had an opportunity to ask this question.

MR. DUFFY:  Well, perhaps your -- perhaps you may ask your witness how they formed an opinion without that data.

MR. VELLONE:  I have made a request.  I'm going to ask that it be marked as an undertaking.  If there is a refusal on the record, we can mark it and move on.

MR. ZACHER:  You have our position.

MR. VELLONE:  Ljuba, can we get that marked as a refusal?

MS. DJURDJEVIC:  Yes.  That will be JT1.7.  Do you want to restate it, Mr. Vellone, after the discussion, to sum it up?

MR. VELLONE:  Please provide the dollar amount of ex-ante mitigation or ex-post settlement adjustments under the day-ahead commitment process, under the current market power mitigation regime for the 2018 to 2023 time frame.
UNDERTAKING JT1.7:  IESO TO PROVIDE THE DOLLAR AMOUNT OF EX-ANTE MITIGATION OR EX-POST SETTLEMENT ADJUSTMENTS UNDER THE DAY-AHEAD COMMITMENT PROCESS, UNDER THE CURRENT MARKET POWER MITIGATION REGIME FOR THE 2018 TO 2023 TIME FRAME (REFUSED)


MR. VELLONE:  I believe Mr. Boyle has a few questions.  That is the end of my march through the witness statement materials.

MR. BOYLE:  I know lunch was scheduled for 12:30, so I don't know if we want to break now.  I can start after lunch.

MS. DJURDJEVIC:  Mr. Boyle --


MR. ZACHER:  We're happy to continue on if Mr. Boyle is going to be relatively brief, as long as others are okay with that.

MS. DJURDJEVIC:  We are.  Is our court reporter okay with continuing?  I think so.  All right, Mr. Boyle, why don't you go ahead and finish up and take us to lunch.

MR. BOYLE:  Sure.  I apologize for my voice.  I am just getting over a sickness and am quarantining in my office here, away from everybody else, so apologies if I sound like a robot right now.
Examination by Mr. Boyle

MR. BOYLE:  So the first place I would like to go is pull up the table of contents in the IESO responding evidence.  And the first question is:  Who was responsible for what portion of this evidence?

It's not clear from the record as to which one of you was responsible for which sections of the evidence.

MR. MATSUGU:  I think the answer is that we didn't differentiate of saying specifically this section of the report is authored by Steve or this section of the report is authored by myself.

MR. BOYLE:  So you jointly prepared it?

MR. MATSUGU:  Yes.

MR. NUSBAUM:  Yes, that would be fair to say.

MR. BOYLE:  Okay.  So did you prepare the IESO responding evidence directly, or was it prepared under your direction?

MR. NUSBAUM:  I wouldn't say we did all of the drafting.  I would say it was our input and guidance and that of our teams, based on the Power Advisory report, our review of the Power Advisory report.

MR. BOYLE:  Okay, so both of you are adopting this evidence, then?

MR. MATSUGU:  Yes.

MR. NUSBAUM:  Yes.

MR. BOYLE:  Okay.  Did you rely on any parties external to the IESO in preparing your evidence?

MR. ZACHER:  Well, just, Mr. Boyle, I don't want to get into privilege, so that is --


MR. BOYLE:  But I mean you have produced this report and everything underlying the report; privilege has been waived.  Correct?

MR. ZACHER:  No.

MR. MATSUGU:  No.

MR. DUFFY:  No.  Sorry, that's not how that works.

MR. BOYLE:  Okay.  Well, the --


MR. DUFFY:  [Audio dropout] Court of Appeal on that, so that's not how that works, Mr. Boyle.

MR. BOYLE:  Okay.  Well, the question -- so is that a refusal of that question?

MR. ZACHER:  No, you may ask your question.

MR. BOYLE:  Okay.  So did you rely on any parties external to the IESO in preparing your evidence?

MR. MATSUGU:  No.

MR. BOYLE:  So you didn't communicate with the Market Surveillance Panel, at all?

MR. MATSUGU:  Oh, I see.  I think I understand your question.  I'm sorry.  The qualifier, I was looking at Steve because of course in the submission we work with our legal counsel, and that's why I was actually not really quite sure whether or not, when you were asking about external, whether or not that included the support from Stikemans statements or not.

So, no, we did not work with the Market Surveillance Panel.

MR. BOYLE:  Okay.  And then who was responsible for the Market Rules description evidence?

MR. MATSUGU:  Sorry.  What do you mean?

MR. BOYLE:  Like were you also the authors or the persons responsible for that Market Rules description evidence?

I guess what I'm trying to get at here is:  When we ask questions at the oral hearing, who do we direct them to?

MR. MATSUGU:  I believe that would be us.

MR. BOYLE:  Okay.  And the remainder of the evidence on the proceeding is directed to you?

MR. NUSBAUM:  Yes.

MR. MATSUGU:  Yes.

MR. BOYLE:  Okay.

The next part I would like to get to here is the CV for Mr. Nusbaum.  Apologies if I butchered that a little bit.

So, Mr. Nusbaum, I understand from your earlier exchange with Mr. Vellone that you are not being put forward as an independent expert witness.

MR. ZACHER:  No, we're not putting forward Mr. Nusbaum and Mr. Matsugu as independent witnesses.  They're employees of the IESO.

MR. BOYLE:  Okay.  So, to confirm, you didn't sign a declaration that your evidence is fair, objective, and non-partisan?

MR. ZACHER:  No, they did not.

MR. BOYLE:  So, Mr. Nusbaum, you are conceding that your evidence is biased?

MR. NUSBAUM:  No, I am not.

MR. BOYLE:  So are you -- when we go to the oral hearing, are you going to be claiming areas of expertise, and what are those?

MR. ZACHER:  You can ask about those, Mr. Boyle.  Their areas of expertise are outlined in their CVs.

MR. BOYLE:  So the Power Advisory folks have given you the areas of their expertise in energy markets, wholesale market design, energy contract design, and operations and energy policy.  Are you advocating that you're an expert in any of those areas or advancing the position that you're an expert in those areas, or are you a fact witness?

MR. ZACHER:  They're fact witnesses, Mr. Boyle, who have expertise.

MR. BOYLE:  Okay.

Mr. Nusbaum, is this the first time you're testifying for the OEB?

MR. NUSBAUM:  Yes, it is.

MR. BOYLE:  And is this the first time you're testifying before any tribunal or court?

MR. NUSBAUM:  Yes, it is.

MR. BOYLE:  And so, then, I would like to go through your résumé here, too.  If we look at the very first line there, it says:
"Mr. Nusbaum has 20 years of experience in the energy sector."

The experience you have only goes back to 2009.  Can you fill in the gap as to what that 20-plus years of experience is past 2009 or is?

MR. NUSBAUM:  I believe it is shown further below under professional history, the other five years was with Imperial Oil Ltd.

MR. BOYLE:  Oh, okay.  Apologies.  And so, I would like to start out with the experience as policy and analysis with the OPA.  So, you provided policy, guidance, and analysis in relation to renewable integration initiatives.  So, I guess, what relevance does that have to being a fact witness that has expertise in this proceeding?

MR. ZACHER:  Mr. Boyle, can you ask as opposed to pitching your question generally.  Can you ask what specific areas of expertise you're inquiring about?

MR. BOYLE:  Well, I mean, I was not given areas of expertise that they're claiming to be an expert in.  So I have asked that question.

MR. ZACHER:  Are there areas of their evidence you don't think they're competent to give?  Because maybe you could ask that question?

MR. BOYLE:  I mean, what areas of expertise are you claiming to be an expert fact witness in?

MR. ZACHER:  I don't -- Mr. Boyle, I'm struggling with your question.  They've given evidence on issues.  If you think that those issues engage certain areas of expertise that you don't believe they have competence in, then you can ask questions about that.

MR. BOYLE:  I'm just looking at the rules here in terms of if you're claiming they're an expert witness.  Section 13A-03 talks about an expert's written evidence shall include a general area of expertise.

So, if you're asserting that they are an expert, what is their general area of expertise?

MR. ZACHER:  If you want to have this argument at the hearing, we can have this argument at the hearing, but I think probably a productive use of your time would be to examine them on areas of expertise that you think might be lacking with regards to the evidence they gave.  I'm not going to get into a debate in a discovery process about rules of procedure.

MR. BOYLE:  Okay.  So, Mr. Nusbaum, you have not performed any academic research or published any peer-reviewed papers on the subject matter of this proceeding?

MR. NUSBAUM:  No, I have not.

MR. BOYLE:  And you have not been recognized by peers or professional organizations as being a subject matter in relation to this proceeding, so the matters that are here?

MR. ZACHER:  Which matters are you talking about?

MR. BOYLE:  So, this --

MR. ZACHER:  Are you talking about market design, wholesale market operations --

MR. BOYLE:  Exactly, yeah.

MR. ZACHER:  So put those specific questions.

MR. BOYLE:  Have you been -- Mr. Nusbaum, have you been recognized by your peers or professional organization as an expert in energy markets, wholesale market design, energy contract design and operations or energy policy?

MR. NUSBAUM:  Can you clarify who you mean by my peers?

MR. BOYLE:  So, your peers would be like a professional organization, a court, a tribunal.  Has anyone recognized your expertise in these areas?

MR. DUFFY:  Mr. Boyle, is there a particular body that you wish to ask about?  I think that is an important foundation before you ask such a question.

MR. BOYLE:  Okay.  Let's start with the OEB.  Has the OEB -- since you have never practised -- testified before the OEB, you have not been recognized as an expert in any of the areas I've listed previously?

MR. NUSBAUM:  That is correct.

MR. BOYLE:  Thank you.  And before the court, you have never testified before the court and have never been recognized as an expert in the areas I previously listed?

MR. NUSBAUM:  Also correct.

MR. BOYLE:  And finally, you would agree with me that each of your critiques -- the critiques you've listed in your report draw inferences from facts to respond to the Power Advisory opinions; correct?  So you --

MR. NUSBAUM:  Could you please repeat that?

MR. BOYLE:  Sure.  So, when you're – let’s turn to one of the critiques that you have summarized at page 3 of your evidence.  So, what you say here is:
"At a high level, the IESO's disagreements with Power Advisory's opinions and statements on the operations and impacts of the IESO's unit commitment programs can be summarized into five core themes."

So, you are disagreeing with the Power Advisory's opinions; correct?

MR. NUSBAUM:  In a number of areas, yes, that's correct.

MR. BOYLE:  And you're providing your own opinion in response to Power Advisory; correct?

MR. NUSBAUM:  This is IESO evidence informed by my and other members of IESO's staff's view of that evidence, yes.

MR. BOYLE:  Thank you.  Mr. Matsugu, I guess I'm intrigued by the introduction in your summary of qualifications there.  Regarding your expert knowledge in the complex interplay between the IESO administered market and the real-time system operations.  So, given your expertise, did the IESO conduct any analysis to determine whether the market rule amendments will unjustly advantage or disadvantage any market participant or a class of market participants?

MR. MATSUGU:  Sorry, what's your question in relation to my CV?

MR. BOYLE:  Sure.  I'll pull it down here.  So, you say you are an expert -- you have:
"...expert knowledge of the complex interplay between the IESO administered market and real-time system operations and managing the balance between efficiency and reliability."

MR. MATSUGU:  That's correct.

MR. BOYLE:  So, did the IESO conduct any analysis to determine whether the Market Rules amendments will unjustly advantage or disadvantage any market participant or class of market participants?

MR. MATSUGU:  Sorry, I'm still not following the linkage between that question and the statement on my resume -- or, sorry, my CV?

MR. BOYLE:  Okay.

MR. MATSUGU:  So, perhaps I could help because the purpose of that reflecting is that the IESO needs to operate the IESO-administered market to serve two purposes.  One, to be able to provide a reliable way of operating the system.  And two, to be able to do that at least cost.  So, in order to determine whether or not the IESO-administered cost is performing that function, it is important to understand the physical realities of the system and the system requirements.  And then secondly, the economic efficiency and optimization required to be able to do that at least cost.

MR. BOYLE:  Right.  But under the Electricity Act, the IESO needs to satisfy itself that it does not unjustly advantage or disadvantage any market participant or class of market participants.  Have you conducted any analysis on that historically?

MR. ZACHER:  Do you mean outside of the evidence that the IESO has given in this proceeding?

MR. BOYLE:  Correct, yes.

MR. MATSUGU:  In addition to the evidence that we provided, no.

MR. BOYLE:  Thank you.  Mr. Matsugu, I also understand that you have not signed an OEB declaration that your evidence is fair, objective, and non-partisan; correct?

MR. MATSUGU:  That's correct.

MR. BOYLE:  And this is also your first time testifying before the OEB; correct?

MR. MATSUGU:  That's correct.

MR. BOYLE:  And this is your first time testifying before any tribunal or court?

MR. MATSUGU:  That's correct.

MR. BOYLE:  So, in your resume you state that you have presented at electricity conferences and guest lectures, but have not listed which ones.  Are you able to undertake to provide a list of presentations or guest lectures that are relevant to the matters in this proceeding?

MR. ZACHER:  Sorry, Mr. Boyle, what is the basis for that?  What are you questioning in Mr. Matsugu's expertise that would be a foundation for that extraordinarily broad request?

MR. BOYLE:  I mean, it's not extraordinarily broad.  It is what he feels is relevant to the matters in this proceeding.  I mean, it is standard form for experts to provide a list of relevant conferences or presentations that they have done on topics that are relevant to the proceeding.

MR. ZACHER:  Okay.  We will take that under advisement.

MS. DJURDJEVIC:  That will be JT1.8, under advisement.
UNDERTAKING JT1.8:  IESO TO PROVIDE A LIST OF MR. MATSUGU'S PRESENTATIONS, GUEST LECTURES, OR JOURNAL ARTICLES RELEVANT TO MATTERS IN THE PROCEEDING (UNDER ADVISEMENT)


MR. BOYLE:  And related to that, you also talk about peer-reviewed journal articles, but you didn't indicate which ones.  So can we add journal articles to that one, too?

MR. ZACHER:  Yes.

MR. BOYLE:  Thank you.

Mr. Matsugu, to confirm, you haven't authored any of those peer-reviewed articles?  You are just reviewing them?

MR. MATSUGU:  That's correct.  I have been asked to review them because often those articles are of a hypothetical or theoretical nature, and they have asked me to review them on the basis that I am familiar with the actual operation and administration of the market and the actual market outcomes that currently occur, and are testing their hypothesis of the validity of those theoretical hypotheses that those academic papers are trying to test.

MR. BOYLE:  Thanks.  So a similar question that I had earlier:  So, Mr. Matsugu, you have not been recognized by the OEB as an expert witness, have you?

MR. MATSUGU:  No.

MR. BOYLE:  In prior proceedings, no.  And you haven't been recognized as a court, as an expert witness, either?

MR. MATSUGU:  That is correct.

MR. BOYLE:  So then my next question, I don't think we need to pull it up.  But you have attached various reports from the Market Surveillance Panel to your evidence.  Can either of you speak to the contents of those Market Surveillance Panel reports?

MR. ZACHER:  Sorry, is there something specific in those hundred-page reports that you are asking about?

MR. BOYLE:  No.  No, I am just asking generally.

MR. ZACHER:  Whether they have memorized their reports?

MR. BOYLE:  What I am asking is if we were to ask questions about them, these two witnesses cannot respond to the Market Surveillance Panel reports?

MR. MATSUGU:  Respond, in what way?

MR. BOYLE:  Like, provide any detail or context for them?

MR. MATSUGU:  I am familiar with those reports, in the past.  If there is something specific that you have a question about, I may need to refresh my memory depending on how far back that report is.

MR. BOYLE:  It is not important.  I will move on.

Mr. Nusbaum, your CV states that you are the director of MRP implementation.  And, Mr. Nusbaum, you are responsible for the implementation of market design changes as part of your role as director of markets and reliability.

So as part of these roles, I will start with Mr. Nusbaum, do you have any performance targets that are set by the IESO in relation to MRP?

MR. NUSBAUM:  Can you clarify exactly what you are looking to get clarity on?

MR. BOYLE:  So, in your role, presumably you have targets or KPIs that are part of your job.  Correct?

MR. NUSBAUM:  Yes, and -- yes.

MR. BOYLE:  And so do any of those targets or KPIs relate to MRP?

MR. NUSBAUM:  Yes.  That's a core part of my job.

MR. BOYLE:  So can you describe to me what those performance targets are?

MR. MATSUGU:  Sorry.  Mr. Boyle, do you mean performance targets as far as the project?  Or do you mean as far as Steve, personally?

MR. BOYLE:  So all I am interested in is is there something you are measured by in relation to MRP when you are carrying out your job duties?

MR. MATSUGU:  In the execution, or in the compensation?

MR. BOYLE:  Both.

MR. NUSBAUM:  Yes.  In terms of the execution, there are -- I have performance objectives around completing certain work and completing it to a certain quality and in accordance with our standards.

But, no, there is no performance compensation associated with achieving those metrics.  We do not have bonuses or performance pay, if that is where you are trying to get to.

MR. BOYLE:  And, Mr. Matsugu, I assume it is the same?

MR. MATSUGU:  That is correct.

MR. BOYLE:  Let me just take one more look here.  I think that is all my questions for now.  Thank you.

MS. DJURDJEVIC:  Thank you, Mr. Boyle.

So why don't we take the lunch break now and come back at 2:00 p.m.?  In the meantime, I did send an e-mail to all parties regarding some documents that were circulated by IESO's counsel around 10:50 or 9:50 -- late this morning.  And so please take a look at my e-mail.  I would just like all parties to sort of advise me during the lunch break if you have views on that material being addressed in tomorrow's questioning of the NQS generation group witnesses and experts.

MR. VELLONE:  Ms. Djurdjevic, can I make one quick procedural question?  I see that the current schedule has the NQS group presentation occurring at 4:20 p.m. for 10 minutes.  If we were to waive the need of that presentation, because I actually, frankly, don't think it is needed, similar to the way the IESO did, could we have the NQS witnesses appear first thing in the morning for cross-examination of all the parties?

And frankly, the reason I am asking is that one of my three witnesses from Power Advisory would like to catch a flight home tonight and make it back into Toronto in time.  And if he can leave at 4:00 p.m., he can do that.  If he has to leave at 5:00, he may not be able to do that.  So that is the rationale for the request.

MS. DJURDJEVIC:  That seems reasonable, Mr. Vellone.  And I note we are a little bit behind schedule already, so we realistically may not even have that time at the end of the day.  But yes, certainly, we wouldn't expect your witness to be on a panel while he is trying to board a plane.  So let's take that up after the lunch break, and we reconvene at 2:00 p.m.

MR. VELLONE:  Sure.  Could Mr. Zacher give that some consideration as well?  I would like to be able to tell him he can go to the airport.

MR. ZACHER:  No objection from us.  That's fine.

MR. VELLONE:  Okay.  Thank you, everyone.

MS. DJURDJEVIC:  Okay.  All right.  Let's do that, then.
--- Luncheon recess taken at 1:01 p.m.
--- On resuming at 2:01 p.m.

MS. DJURDJEVIC:  Welcome back, everyone.  In response to Mr. Rubenstein's question just before we broke for lunch, we are going to get instructions from the Panel.  Not all of them are available all at the same time right now, but we will get back to you on that at the end of the day or tomorrow.

We've also had some slight change in the order in the schedule, as discussed with some parties.  So the next questions will be coming from Staff.  So, without further ado, I'll get started.
Examination by Ms. Djurdjevic

MS. DJURDJEVIC:  I'm going to introduce these questions.  I will be doing the first set of questions, and then my colleague Mr. Akhter will add on some questions at the end that are of a more technical nature, that he is much more expert at than myself.  So I will try to do this sort of by general subject or topic and then put the document on the screen for the IESO witnesses to look at and then ask a couple of questions.

My first subject of questioning is with respect to operating reserve offers and the IESO "screening" those offers, so put up the NQS evidence.  That's the Power Advisory report, page 37, paragraph 60.  The highlighted part says that:
"As part of the MRP Amendments, the IESO will screen and potentially replace OR [operating reserve] offers when they are greater than $15/MW and it considers there to be 'global' market power across the entire IAM [IESO-Administered Market]  This creates a de facto $15/MW price cap on [operating reserve] during certain circumstances [..]"

So OEB Staff would like to start by getting a better understanding of the rationale and impact of the $15/MW cap on operating reserve.  First, in order to assist the Panel, could the witnesses perhaps give a brief explanation of what "operating reserve" is in the IESO market and what is meant by "screening" offers for operating reserve.

MR. NUSBAUM:  Yes, I can do that.  I am happy to take clarifying questions as we go.  So "operating reserve" is capacity that we hold in reserve, that can respond quickly to contingencies on the system.  So, if supply and demand become out of balance in the very near term, before we have time to dispatch additional resources, we want resources that can very quickly respond to those disturbances or unexpected changes in supply and demand.  So we have three different classes, 10-minute spinning, 10-minute non-spinning and 30-minute operating reserve, and we seek to secure different quantities of each of those based on NERC standards or North American Electric Reliability Corporation standards that are kind of common across North America.  So it is kind of that contingency safety blanket that is there for when we need to respond to keep the lights on in unexpected events.

MS. DJURDJEVIC:  Thank you.  And -- I'm sorry, maybe you were about the answer this.  Can you add to that as well what is meant by "screening" those offers?  What is IESO doing and why?

MR. NUSBAUM:  Yes.  So we -- in terms of market power mitigation, or MPM, there is a multi-step process we look at before we -- as part of that MPM framework.

First, we assess:  Is competition restricted, so is there limited transmission capability or limited supply available?  And that's kind of that first screen.

After that, we do a conduct test to assess whether or not the offers were outside of the expected range.

And then, third and finally, we'll do an impact assessment:  Was the result of those, if those offers were higher than expected, did it materially impact prices?

So that $15/MW reference there is one of those screens that we look at up front to say that is one of the ways in which we can see that competition may have been restricted when prices are relatively clear and at relatively high levels.  That's a signal to us that competition may be restricted, and it's probably worth doing the further tests.

So the statements in the Power Advisory report are inaccurate that it results in a de facto cap.  All that's happening is, when prices get to $15, we start our market power mitigation process and we say:  Okay, prices are high; that means there is limited competition; we're into higher parts of the supply stack; let's check if anyone has offered outside of those reference-level ranges, outside of that conduct-level-plus threshold.

And then, if that is yes, then it will go to the impact test.  And then, if there is material impact, then, yes, some of those offers may be mitigated down to the reference levels.  But, for clarity, those reference levels, there is nothing to say that they have to be below $15.  So they very well could be above and beyond that.

So I just want to make those two points clear.  Doing the testing at $15 doesn't mean that we are going to find any issue with it.  The outcome might be a competitive outcome.  We find that it can continue to clear above $15.  And then, even if we do find that we need to exercise market power mitigation and mitigate certain offers, there is no reason to conclude that the revised offers will clear below $15.

MS. DJURDJEVIC:  Thank you very much for that explanation.  I'm sorry if I'm jumping around a bit, but we've been squeaking out questions as Mr. Vellone has done his examination, so apologies if it's out of order.

My next question is about the day-ahead commitment process.  And this is in the IESO reply evidence, page 8, lines 5 to 13.  Some of this was discussed in Mr. Vellone's questions.  Staff has a bit of a slightly different angle on it.

So Staff would like to understand how after, the changes in the real-time cost guarantee were made in 2018, that led to an apparent increase in NQS commitment in the day-ahead commitment process.  Staff would like to understand the quantitative impact of the cost guarantee on NQS commitment.  It may be done by way of undertaking if the witnesses and your counsel agree to it:  Could the IESO provide underlying quantitative analysis for those five years, 2019 through to 2023, as to what percentage of NQS commitments have been accounted for in the day-ahead process?

So, just to kind of explain why I'm asking is that the IESO has made the point that two-thirds of NQS generators are committed in the day-ahead process, but Staff's question is:  Well, what if many of those day-ahead commitments were not actually dispatched in the real-time market; does it really matter what percentage of NQS resources are committed in the day-ahead process and whether or not that is because of the Generator Cost Guarantee program?

So Staff's thinking is that, if we have some quantitative indication of those day-ahead commitments -- those day-ahead commitment processes, you know, what was actually dispatched, you know, whether it is percentage or proportion, in real time, is that something that the IESO could undertake to provide?

MR. NUSBAUM:  So, yes, we do have that data available, so I think we could provide it.

I just wanted to maybe clarify a point, though, that all commitments coming out of DACP lead to constraints in the PD run and then into real-time, such that they are, like, locked in.  None of them will disappear economically as we move into real-time.  So the schedules associated with it that say above the minimum loading point and above the minimum -- or beyond the minimum generation block runtime.  Some of that schedule may be altered as we get closer to real-time, but the commitment itself is locked in and will show up, except for, you know, very rare circumstances where we have a reliability issue or an issue on the grid.  So, with that clarity --


MS. DJURDJEVIC:  Let me try to help clarify the question a bit.  So, our understanding is that the day-ahead commitment process is not binding, so a generator could make that offer and the next day they could change their mind.  So, what we're trying to understand is that, you know -- so, for example, two-thirds of all NQS generators made day-ahead commitments offers.  So, we would like to know then how many of those were actually scheduled and dispatched?

MR. MATSUGU:  Sorry, maybe I can supplement.  I believe what Mr. Nusbaum is trying to describe is the very nature of the fact that they got a commitment in day-ahead means that the IESO is going to respect that commitment and hold that commitment through pre-dispatch all the way into real-time.  So, that assurance means that there aren't going to be instances where we would give them a day-ahead commitment and then not have them actually deliver in real-time.

MS. DJURDJEVIC:  So, then back to my request for the undertaking.  I think it would be helpful for Staff and the Panel to see quantitatively this is how much was committed in the day-ahead process and then this much was actually dispatched in real-time, just for NQS generators.

MR. ZACHER:  So, Ms. Djurdjevic, just to clarify, and I think what the witnesses are actually telling you is that currently NQS resources that are committed in the day-ahead commitment process up to their MLP and for MG-BRT are operationally -- those are operationally binding.  And so, they are scheduled and dispatched in real-time and so there is no delta other than I think the witness said in very, very rare circumstances.  So, just to make sure we're on the same page.

MR. MATSUGU:  Yes.  So, maybe I can -- the way I describe the purpose of the generator cost guarantee was to make sure when a commitment is made that we want to make sure that it gets actually delivered in real-time.  So, what we've described here is just a change in the time that that commitment is made, that what we saw was that now the majority of those commitments occur in the day-ahead timeframe.  Whereas prior to this -- prior to the amendment to pre-approve costs is we saw a lot more of those commitments being entered into in the pre-dispatch timeframe, but regardless of whether they're made in the pre-dispatch timeframe or in the day-ahead timeframe, they are -- both of those types of commitments are held into real-time because the IESO is operating and planning the system around anticipating that those resources are going to be there.  And, of course, that's why we have the cost guarantee to make sure that they don't have -- that when they appear, as we committed them, that they are not at risk of losing money by operating to that commitment.

MS. DJURDJEVIC:  Okay.  I won't insist on the undertaking now.  I may come back to it later, sort of see how my related questions go and whether, you know, we still need this information.

So, on that subject --


MR. VELLONE:  To the extent it helps, Ms. Djurdjevic, we're also interested in seeing these numbers.  Thank you.

MS. DJURDJEVIC:  So, still on the topic of the day-ahead market versus the real-time market, I would like to look at the IESO reply evidence page 9, put that up, and starting at line 26, the very bottom and then it goes onto the next page.  Here the IESO is criticizing the Power Advisory report and says:

"Power Advisory only provides a singular example where the real-time schedule is less than the day-ahead market schedule and fails to consider situations where the real-time schedule remains the same as the day-ahead market schedule.  There would be no difference in revenue or would the resource have a higher real-time schedule that the resource receives increase in revenue."

So, Staff would like to understand how in the current system the -- NQS resources, as we understand, can opt out of this offer in the day-ahead process which, again, our understanding is that is not binding.  And so, instead of going through with this day-ahead offer, it can instead offer into the real-time market instead.  And so, you know, currently they will offer into the day-ahead commitment process with the expectation of receiving a cost guarantee.  Now, if that NQS generator opted out of the day-ahead process and, instead, only bid into the real-time market, how would that NQS resource be compensated when the real-time schedule could be less or more than the day-ahead schedule?  So, again, assuming that generator was committed, but the real-time schedule is more or less, how are they compensated?  And they're not participating -- they're not -- you know, they've opted out of the day-ahead, so they're just in the real-time market, how are they -- how is that discrepancy addressed?

MR. NUSBAUM:  Okay.  Just to make sure I'm following.  We're talking about the current legacy market, not the future MRP market; correct?

MS. DJURDJEVIC:  Yes, correct.

MR. NUSBAUM:  Yes, okay.  And I just wanted to make the point, as well, that they do not have the ability to opt out of participating in DACP.  So, that is currently an obligation of all resources that want to participate in real-time, they have to offer into day-ahead.  So it's not that -- they're not obligated to offer in day-ahead, but if they want to participate in real-time, they do have to offer day-ahead.

So, when you say they opt out, presumably they could offer in such a way that maybe they don't get picked up, but they cannot not participate in day-ahead in the DACP.  I just wanted to make that point clear.

MS. DJURDJEVIC:  Okay.  And, sorry, not to cut you off.  That's okay, that's my fault.  My wording would be "opt out", but let's say they did participate and they did offer into the day-ahead process but then they just decided to not go through with it.  So, it's not opting out, it's just not following through.  That's the scenario I'm thinking about.  And then they decide to just participate in the real-time market.  Do they have any guarantees and how would they -- if the real-time market is less than what they had proposed in the day-ahead, is there any compensation for them?

MR. MATSUGU:  So, maybe I can try here.  So, in the example that, I think, Steve tried to clarify, in the event that that resource doesn't secure a commitment in the day-ahead timeframe, because they were not economic, they have no -- there is no commitment being established, and because there is no commitment being established, there is no cost guarantee associated with it.  Because, of course, we haven't said, well, we need you and we would like to make sure you are there.  We are, in fact, by them being uneconomic I say, well, we don't actually need you.  And so, that leading then into pre-dispatch is, again, if system conditions change such that as a result of those changes in system conditions, that they now become economic, that may trigger a commitment in the pre-dispatch timeframe.  But if that does not happen either, then the resource would not be securing a commitment either and therefore would just run into the real-time timeframe.  And, of course, depending on whether or not that resource is online or not online -- if it is not online, it would not be available to be scheduled for energy and I would expect that there would be no settlement associated with that.

MS. DJURDJEVIC:  Okay.  So, I want to look at now the concern that NQS has addressed about a reduction in commitments for NQS generators under MRP.  So, if we could turn to page 14 of the reply evidence looking at lines 1 to 2.  The IESO says that:

"Power Advisory has not established that there will be a net reduction in commitments for NQS resources as a class."

OEB Staff would like to understand why the IESO emphasized the impact on NQS as a class.  Does the IESO have a view about the impact on the NQS Generator Group that are the applicants in this proceeding?  So rather than the entire class of NQS generators, does the IESO have a view if there would be a net reduction in commitments for the applicant in this proceeding?

MR. MATSUGU:  Yes, I think the importance of us distinguishing about NQS resources as a class is to recognize that if, as a result of the consideration of start-up costs, that there is the economic selection of one non-quick start resource versus another non-quick start resource to make the argument that non-quick start resources would result in a decreased number of commitments, one should consider the resource that did not get a commitment before and the resource that now did get a commitment afterwards.

So, on net, if all that has happened has been it is a different non-quick start resource that has been dispatched, I think that is the gap that we failed to see recognized within the evidence that was provided in terms of them saying, well, there doesn't seem to be an acknowledgment or recognition that there could be a transfer of that commitment from one non-quick start resource to another.

MR. NUSBAUM:  And just to build on that to the point around as a class, I think, as Mr. Matsugu was saying, you know, there is a proxy generator that he said that specific resource maybe wasn't the most efficient one and it did not get committed, and that commitment may get picked up by someone else.

And whether that someone else is part of the NQS Group or another NQS resource, I think that is the point we are trying to highlight, that it is as a class of resources, that is who would be competing for that commitment.

MS. DJURDJEVIC:  Thank you.  Thank you, for that.

And we understand the point about, you know, that you can have unjust discrimination against a market participant or a class.  So we understand the point about why you would emphasize that it is not net reduction and commitments for NQS as a class.

However, coming back to the NQS generators in this proceeding, does the IESO have a basis for saying that this particular group, the applicants, would not have a reduction in commitments?

MR. MATSUGU:  Yes, I think that is perhaps the other part of our commentary, that we didn't see anything in the evidence that supported that that subset of Non-Quick Start generators would as a subset necessarily be no longer economically scheduled, whereas the other non-quick start generators outside of that subset would potentially see an increase.

We didn't see any distinction or determination of the recognition that the optimization that considers start-up costs, that there be any potential transfer between non-quick start resources.

MS. DJURDJEVIC:  Okay.  Thank you, for that.

So I would like to talk about the concern that NQS Generation Group has that the -- again, that the amendments have a discriminatory impact on them.  And I would like to turn to page 14 of the IESO reply evidence, at lines 16 to 17.

Again, you are responding to the Power Advisory report and referring to paragraph 52 of that report, which claims that:
"...the Amendments will have a negative financial impact on NQS resources.  Power Advisory's analysis does not support its claim that NQS resources as a class will be worse off..."

Paragraph 52 further states that:
"The Amendments are 'targeted specifically' at NQS resources."

And so as part of the IESO reply evidence, we understand that you are responding to the Power Advisory report and you disagree that the amendments are targeted specifically at NQS resources.  And we also know from your reply evidence that the -- that Mr. Vellone just discussed with you and you responded that the cost guarantees that are paid to NQS generators have been the subject of criticism by, for example, the Market Surveillance Panel and the Auditor General.

In this context, would the IESO agree that one of MRP's goals is to reduce generation costs by committing -- by a more efficient commitment of generation resources?

MR. MATSUGU:  Yes.

MS. DJURDJEVIC:  And would the IESO agree that, all else being equal, so under MRP, an NQS generator as a whole would earn less than were it compared to the existing market?

MR. MATSUGU:  So we would not agree with that.  And, if I may, I would maybe refer to kind of making this distinction between receiving payments from the market versus net profits.  And so I don't know if it would help with a contrived example, but I will try.  And I think that's --


MS. DJURDJEVIC:  Sorry, I am not -- I don't mean to cut you off and I will let you finish that but, I mean, just to make it clear, I am not asking about whether the generators make less money from market, like, in the market.  I mean, there is other money that they have, so...

MR. MATSUGU:  I understand.  No, I understand.  And I think hopefully this example will reinforce the point of less gross revenues versus less net revenues.  And I think the important part is for there to be an adverse financial impact; it is the net revenues that are really at question here.

So the example, I guess, albeit contrived that I will go through is, you know, if I ask my legal counsel here to go and buy me a coffee and I told him I would pay him back for that coffee and, you know, he comes back, provides me the coffee and it cost him $2 and I give him the $2, he's not making any money.  Now, I guess from an accounting perspective, he would account for his costs being $2 and his revenues being $2, but there is no profit associated with that.

And so, if I were to no longer ask him to get me that coffee or if, in fact, I was to ask Mr. Duffy instead to get me that coffee and he got it for $1.75 and I paid him $1.75 for it, I would be pleased by that outcome because I would have saved 25 cents for getting that coffee.  But neither Mr. Zacher nor Mr. Duffy in either case would be making any money from that transaction.

So hopefully that kind of illustrates the point that we are trying to make between the difference, the really important difference, between the result of not getting that commitment and not getting a guarantee payment associated with that, which again is intended to bring them back to a net-zero operating profit, that there is a really important distinction between are they getting a guarantee payment anymore, are they in a commitment anymore, versus are they actually worse off as a result of not having to do that?

MS. DJURDJEVIC:  So not to go too far with your analogy of using Mr. Duffy and Mr. Zacher, in that analogy it sounds like Mr. Duffy is more efficient than Mr. Zacher.  So you know, looking at --


MR. ZACHER:  That is not true.

MR. DUFFY:  I just have a cheaper taste in coffee, that's all.

MS. DJURDJEVIC:  That's an interesting angle on that, but looking at other market participants -- beware of the examples you use, right? -- look at other market participants.  And let's say that the MRP amendments are designed to attract and dispatch the most efficient resources, then NQS generators will be impacted whether -- you can argue, are they just making -- would be making less than they are now, but still whole?  We will leave that for argument.

But is there any other resource type that will be more impacted by MRP amendments on the basis of, like, what is most efficient?  Again, so sort of assuming that MRP is intended to make the markets more efficient, and that may have a side effect of less dispatch -- or less commitment to dispatch for NQS resources.

And my question is just is there any other resource that is in, I guess, such a precarious position, if you will?

MR. MATSUGU:  I understand.  So the specific change that we are talking about here is an improvement of the way that we commit resources in the pre-dispatch time frame.  We've kind of referred to that as our enhanced real-time unit commitment.  That is an important part of market renewal, but it is not the only part of market renewal, and market renewal as a whole includes moving to a single schedule market, which impacts resources, all resources, within the IESO-Administered Market and also includes moving to a financially-binding day ahead market, which again impacts all resources that participate within the market.

So what I would say as for the MRP amendments as a whole, all of those different changes impact different resources slightly differently.  In this point in particular, because when we're talking about the relevance and the applicability of the changes related to the Generator Cost Guarantee changes, because other resources aren't eligible for those cost guarantees, in this part in isolation, it would again, be relevant to the non-quick start generators.  But of course as my example hopefully tried to illustrate is there are different impacts to that, to that type of between the type of participants there.  But wholistically, across all of MRP, there are all kinds of different aspects that impact a whole bunch of different resources and not necessarily identically, but they will impact the -- NQS is not alone to be impacted by the MRP amendments as a whole.

MS. DJURDJEVIC:  Thank you for that.  You had some of this discussion with Mr. Vellone, as well.  The purpose or intention of a Generator Cost Guarantee was to result in revenue neutrality, but, in fact, a guarantee does allow the potential to receive additional profits and not just revenue neutrality.

So would it be IESO's view that the current market design treats NQS resources more favourably relative to other resource types?  Under the current market design, that is.

MR. MATSUGU:  Sorry, more favourably in what way relative to other resource types?

MS. DJURDJEVIC:  Well, again, because of the Generator Cost Guarantee, the intent may be just to make them revenue neutral, but, in fact, they are earning, sometimes could be earning profits.  So the current market design with the Generator Cost Guarantee is actually more favourable to NQS generators, one could say, than to other generation resources.  Is that the IESO's view?

MR. MATSUGU:  Well, I'm not sure about the relativity to other generation resources, but I think we would agree that, as the panel noted, NQS generators benefit from that opportunity to receive revenues that are not considered against the Generator Cost Guarantee, which was intended to return them back to a zero operating profit.

MS. DJURDJEVIC:  And when you just referred to "the panel," you're referring to the Market Surveillance Panel and not an OEB Panel?

MR. MATSUGU:  I'm sorry, yes.  My apologies, the Market Surveillance Panel.

MS. DJURDJEVIC:  I just wanted to clarify that.  So the next sort of topic that I'm interested in is the single- versus three-part offers.  And I don't think there is much discussion of this in the evidence, about the difference, and Staff would like to better understand the distinction and what it means for NQS generators under MRP.  So we're hoping the witnesses can help us with that.

Can you elaborate on what it means, that resources commit to single-part -- well, first of all, let me just back up.

Can you explain just simply or briefly the concept of single-part offers versus three-part offers, and the significance for different types of generation resources.


MR. NUSBAUM:  Yes.  So a three-part offer for a non-quick start resource is reflecting kind of their unique operational characteristics, that they can't just instantly turn on and start providing electricity to the grid; they have to start up and synchronize with the grid, and then, when they do connect to the grid, they need to remain connected for a certain amount of time to be able to ensure they don't damage their equipment.

So there are costs associated with those unique operational characteristics that are captured in that three-part offer of start-up costs, speed no-load costs, and the incremental energy costs.  So that is a mechanism we have added to the market design to reflect their unique operational characteristics.

Other resource types don't have that, don't have those costs, and so they participate in the market only through their energy costs.

And I think as we said earlier, you know, the NQS resources are not obligated to use three-part offers.  It's available to them and I think helpful in terms of it is part of the GCG or the Generator Cost Guarantee programs, but they are not obligated to offer and use three-part offers.

MS. DJURDJEVIC:  Is there any --


MR. MATSUGU:  [Audio dropout] --


MS. DJURDJEVIC:  Sorry, go ahead.

MR. MATSUGU:  Sorry.  The only thing I was going to add to what Mr. Nusbaum said is:  Three-part offers do currently exist in the current market in our day-ahead commitment time frame, so the addition that MRP is introducing is the consideration and the optimization of those three-part offers in the pre-dispatch time frame.

MS. DJURDJEVIC:  Thank you for that.  And can you elaborate on what the IESO means by the statement that:  Resources that submit single-part offers do not participate on an incremental energy basis only?

MR. NUSBAUM:  Could you provide the reference?

MS. DJURDJEVIC:  It's on the screen.  It is in the IESO reply evidence, and it's lines 21 to 23.

MR. NUSBAUM:  What page is that?

MR. MATSUGU:  Nineteen.

MS. DJURDJEVIC:  Yes, and you are responding to the Power Advisory report.

MR. MATSUGU:  I'm sorry.  I may have just discovered I need glasses.  Okay, I don't need glasses.

MS. DJURDJEVIC:  Yes, so, my question, to repeat, was if you could explain and elaborate on what that statement means, that resources as single-part offers do not participate on an incremental energy basis only.

I guess the question in our minds is:  Well, on what basis are they participating if not?  Is anybody else participating on using three-part offers, or is that only NQS resources?

MR. NUSBAUM:  Yes, only NQS resources are participating using three-part offers.  And I think what we're saying here is that another way to look at that, a single-part offer, is that other resources are doing what the NQS resources are doing via three-part offers just via the single-part offer that's available to them.

MS. DJURDJEVIC:  Again, but, other resources, they don't have the characteristics of NQS generators, such as start-up, et cetera?

MR. NUSBAUM:  That's correct.

MS. DJURDJEVIC:  Is that right?

MR. NUSBAUM:  That's correct, yes.  Thank you.

MS. DJURDJEVIC:  So just a bit more on the Generator Cost Guarantee.  I'm looking at page 18 of the reply evidence, line 27.  That's at the bottom.

So Staff would just like to better understand the point about how the amendments will increase the efficiency of pre-dispatch commitments, and what are the implications of this increased efficiency of pre-dispatch commitments in terms of the impact on generators.  And that may be a very broad question.  You can answer that, if you wish.  What we're trying to get at is there any scenario under which -- NQS resources if dispatched, that they don't fully recover their costs.

MR. MATSUGU:  Yeah, I -- so I think that that paragraph as a whole is in response to this characterization that there is a barrier to be able to get an economic commitment.  And I think this example is helpful to be able to -- that was presented in the Power Advisory evidence is helpful to be able to show how that inefficiency can occur is, I believe, the examples that they used was the actual cost of that commitment including start-up was $70,000 and -- but if you just look at what the incremental energy costs that we considered was $22,500, or something like that to the best of my recollection.

And I think what that highlights is that, without factoring in or considering that start-up cost that would be incurred as a result of that commitment, that the optimization would say, well, does the benefit to the system exceed $22,500?  And if so, then this would be a good resource to schedule.  In reality, though, the bill that ratepayers have to pay is that $70,000.

So, what -- the point of what this is trying to highlight is is that, you know, increment -- if you only look at that incremental energy cost, it actually doesn't give the right assessment of what should you be comparing the benefit of scheduling that resource to relative to how much is it actually cost.

So, to answer maybe the second part of your question was, well, is there a financial harm as a result of it?  Again, I'll kind of point back to, again, perhaps the contrived example of, well, if we were -- if under either situation we were topping them back up to what their operating profit from that is, so with the commitment under the status quo -- in this example, if their profit of 70,000 and we reimburse them for that 70,000, their operating cost would have been zero.  And in the future market scenario if, in this specific example, if this specific resource was to no longer get a commitment, they would not be incurring any cost.  And so, again, their operating profit as a result of not getting a commitment in that instance would again be zero.

And so, our assessment, based upon the example that was provided, is that the financial impact of that delta in between those two examples is leaving with and without that commitment as a result of that improved optimization, this particular NQS resource being indifferent and not being financially worse off.

MS. DJURDJEVIC:  Okay.  Thank you for that.  Moving on to a couple of questions about market power mitigation under MRP.  And looking at page 46 of the IESO reply evidence, lines 3 to 12.  I won't read the whole thing but the first sentence, your evidence says:
"Performing MPM actions ex-ante is...required to ensure that market determined prices are reliable for dispatch and for settlement for all market participants."

And so on.  So, Staff would just like to better understand, first of all, just kind of going back to basics, the need or the desirability from the IESO's perspective for ex-ante mitigation.  Staff notes the concept is explained in the IESO's evidence.  So we're not asking you to repeat all of that, but we would like to understand the linkage of it better between mitigation and the broader market.  So, could you help us understand the impact of the IESO taking mitigation action and why is that necessary for reliability?

MR. NUSBAUM:  Yeah, so maybe I'll start with what we do currently to try that explain why we're changing in the new market.  So, currently we look at exercising the market power after the fact ex-post, and that works in today's market with a uniform clearing price because the impact of exercising market power is generally only applicable to the market -- the individual that exercised it.  And so, reviewing that exercise market power after the fact, we can address those congestion management settlement credits that are driven by that action without that market participant having the ability to impact other market participants' schedules and settlement.

But as we align in the new market the pricing with dispatch, the ability of an individual market participant to impact the local market price, the schedules, the impact, the broader market becomes much more significant.  And so, that's why we're moved to an ex-ante before the fact review of these parameters and the mitigation there if needed.

MR. MATSUGU:  If I may, you made reference to reliability and I think that in that sentence the word "reliable" isn't actually in -- or isn't intended to be in reference to system reliability.  That perhaps a different word to be used is in terms of its -- it can be dependable for dispatch and settlement.  And so, I think one of the things that Mr. Nusbaum was trying to describe is that because those LMPs are going to be used to settle market participants that in the event that if there is an exercise of market power and we had to go and correct that price after the fact, it actually would be quite a significant effort to restate what those prices are and then trying to resettle participants with, you know, once after the fact it was determined what the current price should have been.  And so, the dependability of being able to use those for dispatch and settlement is -- the goal is to actually have the correct price before we settled participants, rather than having to go and resettle participants later on.

MS. DJURDJEVIC:  Thank you for that clarification.  It was my mistake to use the term "reliability" so generally, and they tend to not refer to operational reliability, but as you noted price reliability.

MR. MATSUGU:  Yeah.  The IESO uses reliability in a lot of contexts, so I can understand why, you know, that could be misconstrued.

MS. DJURDJEVIC:  It makes sense.  So, more questions about the market power mitigation and the issue about reference levels.  If you go back to page 36 of the IESO reply evidence, lines 3 to 7.  And here, again, the IESO is criticizing the Power Advisory report and says that:
"...Power Advisory exaggerates the extent to which reference levels are 'IESO determined.'  Reference levels are determined by the IESO at the request of a market participant", et cetera.


And again, the concept of market power mitigation is explained in the IESO evidence, and we understand that consists of two tests, the conduct and the impact test, so I'm not going to repeat that.  But we know that a reference level is an essential element for the conduct and impact test for market power mitigation.  And so, could the -- for starters maybe the witnesses could just generally and briefly describe how reference levels are determined by the IESO.


MR. NUSBAUM:  Yeah.  So, reference levels -- yeah, I would say determined by the IESO is -- needs some qualification.  They're established -- the process is started by a market participant requesting an updated reference level.  And so, there is a consultation process and it is the market participant who proposes the reference level themselves.  The IESO wants the market participant to understand what they have requested and may modify that value and say, "After reviewing what you have submitted, all of the evidence, what is appropriate with given what we have said in our Market Rules and Market Manuals, this is now the value that we think is appropriate, and we give that value back to the market participants."  And they have the ability to then accept it or say, "We disagree.  We would like a third party to weigh in on whether or not these are appropriate costs that feed into our reference level."

And so that third party, what we call an independent review process, will look at it.  And their determination is binding upon the IESO.  So if they say "The IESO, you got it wrong, this is the value that it should be," except in very narrow circumstances, we are bound to use that value.  And that is the value that will go in and feed our market power mitigation processes.

And sorry, maybe just to back up, I think I may have missed part of your question around what goes into a reference level.  And just to be clear there, reference levels are intended to quantify a resource's short-run marginal cost of providing that energy or operating reserve to the market.  So it is what are their costs to provide energy or provide operating reserve, including opportunity costs.

MS. DJURDJEVIC:  Now you said that the reference levels are determined by the IESO, but at the request of a market participant.  So say a market participant did not request a reference level, my understanding is that the IESO would just sign it an amount of zero for financial parameters.  And for non-financial parameters, it would be a number based on equations and Market Manuals.  But anything multiplied by zero is going to be zero.

So what would be the outcome of that -- so start with a couple of questions so we can kind of go through it.  And what Staff is interested in knowing is what the outcome would be for that market participant if they didn't request a reference level and they get mitigated to zero.  And they would like to especially understand how this may be different for NQS generators as opposed to other resources which may have a low or zero marginal cost, like wind or solar for whom marginal costs could be zero, so they may not even need a reference level.

However, by contrast, you have NQS resources which do have a high marginal cost.  If they got mitigated down, all the way to zero, that would be a big problem.  Would the IESO agree with that?

MR. NUSBAUM:  Yes.  So maybe just to clarify and provide context of where we are at, this is the first time we are establishing reference levels for this new MPM framework, so we have been working with the entire sector.  And I can say that no one has not come to the table saying "We would like to register a reference level."  So this, you know, the probability of someone having zero I think is quite low.

What we are really trying to get at there is on an ongoing basis, if their circumstances have changed, their facility has changed, their cost structure has changed, they can always come and refresh those reference levels on an ongoing basis.

MR. MATSUGU:  Yes.  I think what Steve is saying is it is the characterization that they are IESO determined.  I think what Mr. Nusbaum has described is the process that eventually leads to the IESO determining it, but just trying to clarify that it is not just a universe -- unilateral, without information or input from the participants themselves.

MS. DJURDJEVIC:  Thank you, for clarifying that, and the information that every resource wants some kind of reference level.  Nobody is going to sit back and say "Give me zero, we are fine with that."

But I guess I am trying to get a sense of the magnitude of the impact.  Like, if the IESO assigned a reference level for solar or wind which has very low marginal costs, you know, they, that type of generator, they might be able to live with that because they have very low marginal costs, whereas for a resource that has higher marginal costs, like NQS, there was a $10 -- well, actually, I have no idea what the dollar maths are -- but if there was a material discrepancy in the reference level, you know, for a high margin-cost resource, that could be a big deal, and that they may be just  operating, what is their marginal cost, and not exercising market power.

But if there is a discrepancy between what the IESO says is the reference level and what the NQS generator says, you know, we have potential for somebody being out of money, or then it leaves some sort of dispute about the matter.

Would you agree that that is an accurate understanding of what the impact of reference -- why do NQS generators feel so strongly about reference levels, whereas some other resource types may not?

MR. NUSBAUM:  Yes.  I would say that getting the reference levels right has been a key focus of the sector and the IESO; we want to have those reference levels as accurate as possible.  But we recognize getting them perfect is not likely achievable.  And as part of that, we have thresholds in all of our tests.

So it is not just did you offer at your reference level?  You know, depending on the specific circumstances, it is did you offer within 50 per cent or a hundred per cent of your reference level?  And then, even if you didn't, it goes to the impact test, and it again says was there an impact on test?  And if there was, it has to be greater than a certain percentage of an impact.

So we are not looking to over-mitigate or be more administratively interventionist than required.  Our goal is to address very clear exercises of market power.

So I think, yes, all resources I think would be interested in ensuring they have reference levels that are appropriate for their technology type.

MS. DJURDJEVIC:  Just to wrap up a bit on that topic, as we understand reference levels are not actually in the Market Rule amendments, that there are going to be Market Manuals, and this is still very much a work in progress.

Do we understand that correctly?

MR. NUSBAUM:  The specific details around eligible costs for reference levels are contained in the Market Manuals.

MS. DJURDJEVIC:  And what is the expected timeline for the IESO to conclude that work, that consultation with the various generator groups?

MR. NUSBAUM:  So I think that are really two parts --

MS. DJURDJEVIC:  Basically, before a market opening, or markets opening.

MR. NUSBAUM:  Yes, yes.

MS. DJURDJEVIC:  That is a lot.

MR. NUSBAUM:  Yes.  I was going to say that there are -- yeah, there are two parts to that, for sure.  There is the getting the system kind of set up initially, and then an ongoing process.  And I just wanted to make it clear that this is not a one and done.  Again, obviously, as new resources come on, or as resources' situations change, this will be an ongoing evolution and update of those reference levels.

But we are in the process of finalizing those reference levels with a number of market participants.  A number have received that, what we call a preliminary view report from the IESO.  So that is after that market participant has provided us their view and we have received it, and now we have sent it back, and here are the equations and the values that we think are appropriate.

So a good chunk of those are already out and, you know, our intention is to get through all of those prior to go-live.

MS. DJURDJEVIC:  And in terms of, like you said, it is not a one and done; it is going to be ongoing.  So reference levels may change and there may be just views, more than once, about the reference level.

So what is the dispute resolution process?  And I know you earlier mentioned that there is a third-party expert process.  Is that the dispute resolution process?  Or is there another type of process, you know, where the generator is not satisfied or content with the reference level?  What does it do, other than pay for a third-party expert to weigh in?

MR. MATSUGU:  So I will get Mr. Nusbaum to talk about the process associated with revising that and all the steps that go along with it.

But I did want to reinforce, I think, an important point that Mr. Nusbaum made, that it is in the IESO's interest to make sure that those reference levels are actually appropriately reflecting what the actual cost, the underlying cost, of it is.  It is not in the IESO's interest to have reference levels that result in over-mitigation or under-mitigation.  Either of those two outcomes have adverse impacts for us as a systems operator and from a market efficiency perspective.  So it is really important and it is in our interest to make sure that they are as accurate as possible.

We also want to make sure that we are not inappropriately mitigating, and again to Mr. Nusbaum's point about the thresholds, we want to make sure that, to the extent that we're mitigating, that these are in fact material differences between what that reference level is and what the behaviour of the participant, understanding that there are a variety of factors that go into it.

So the important part, I think, of the ongoing evolution of it is is that, to the extent that there are underlying things that are driving those reference levels, that actually aren't reflected in those reference levels that have been established, we would like the participants to kind of bring forward evidence to be able to say:  Hey, this is actually not represented.  So our objective there is, well before we get to any idea about, well, we're going to agree to disagree, our initial goal is to make sure that we are actually saying these things on the basis of the right information.

MR. NUSBAUM:  Which is maybe a really good jumping-off point for the next point I want to make, that we are through these reference-level consultations that are ongoing and will be ongoing, we are continuing to add eligible costs or additional parameters into those Market Manuals.  And we have continued to say to all of our stakeholders that that is our goal, where anything that makes sense, we want those in there; we want these values to be as accurate as possible.

To your point around what happens if there is a disagreement, so a market participant can challenge whether or not we have applied the rules correctly, but they cannot challenge our determination, itself.  They can ask for that independent review process, and then, after that, if everyone has followed all of the rules, that will be the value that is used until, again, they could institute another consultation to review the reference levels again if they have new evidence or new data they want to provide.  But that value does become the value that is used in the process once that IRP process is concluded.

MS. DJURDJEVIC:  Thank you for that.  And just to wrap up, so, if a generator wants to know its reference levels, how it would be determined, other than "Here is what the IESO has determined," what is the third source, like the objective source, or is there -- I guess I should say -- is there an objective source for setting reference levels for particular types of generators and their costs?

Is there some objective data or information that parties could agree on as:  Oh, okay, yes, so this is issued by whatever authority or organization that we both accept and respect, and so we can agree that this is the amount?  Is that part of the process?

MR. NUSBAUM:  I think that source of what they would have to look to is the Market Manuals, which again have been developed in consultation with each technology type, of working with them to identify:  What are your costs that go into establishing your offer strategy.  So we've worked with them to document all of the appropriate costs, and that is what is our guidepost when we are working with them and they submit their workbooks saying, "Here is the number I would like, and here is all of my justification."  That's what we compare it back to, those Market Manuals.

MS. DJURDJEVIC:  Okay.  Thank you for that.  I'm just going to take a few seconds to review, and I might turn it over to my colleague, Mr. Akhter, who has a couple of follow-up questions.

MR. ZACHER:  And, Ms. Djurdjevic, since the witnesses have finished, I think you said that you thought that the reference levels were only codified in the Market Manuals.  So, obviously, the detail is, but they are codified in the Market Rules, as well.  I believe it's chapter 7, section 22 or 21 of the new -- I think it is 22 of the new Market Rules.

MS. DJURDJEVIC:  Thank you for that clarification, Mr. Zacher.

Okay.  I'm going to turn it over to Mr. Akhter now for his couple of questions.

MR. ZACHER:  Ms. Djurdjevic, if we could take a five- or ten-minute break?

MS. DJURDJEVIC:  Oh, yes, certainly.

MR. ZACHER:  Three minutes?

MS. DJURDJEVIC:  Let's say 10.  Come back at 3:15.

MR. ZACHER:  Okay.  Thank you very much.
--- Recess taken at 3:08 p.m.
--- On resuming at 3:16 p.m.

MS. DJURDJEVIC:  As I said, I'm turning it over to my colleague Mr. Akhter for some questions on behalf of Staff.

MR. AKHTER:  Thank you.
Examination by Mr. Akhter

MR. AKHTER:  My first question is on IESO's reply evidence, page 43, lines 23 to 25.  So, it says there that, you know, to the extent to which an NQS generator is mitigated is within the generator's control since there are no other resources' reference levels and applicable conduct impact thresholds and validation thresholds.

So, I think that you've already established that, you know, the reference levels are there.  I was just wondering if you could, just for the record, to elaborate on, you know, power generator knows its reference levels ahead of submitting offers, including in all the constraints, you know.  As you know, you know, some of those reference levels are dynamic and some of those constraints are dynamic.  So, constraint zones I meant.  And so, if you could elaborate a little bit for the record on how a generator knows all of that information ahead of the day-ahead market submission period and all of that stuff?  Thank you.

MR. NUSBAUM:  Yeah.  So, there is a lot of values there that don't change.  So, you know, their reference levels -- they know the equation and they know the inputs that go into that.  So, they will have a pretty clear sense on what their reference levels are and whether they're offering above those reference levels or not.

They will also know in our tests the thresholds, those kind of safe harbours above the conduct and impact tests where they are allowed to offer.  And then we also communicate in advance the constrained areas -- the potential constrained areas, dynamic constrained areas, narrow constrained areas that impact which tests we apply and which areas of the grid we're looking at.  So, you know, in advance of operation, they know, you know, the vast majority of the details they would need to know to have a clear view on their level of risk of offering in a certain way.  And, you know, at its simplest level, if they -- they know for sure their reference level and if they offer below that reference level, they have complete control over the risk of being mitigated

MR. AKHTER:  Okay, thank you.  So, the next question I have is on section 3.4 of page 47, on lines 7 to 15.  And, you know, the NQS -- I mean, you're replying to the assertion from NQS that they are -- you are subject to a lot more parameters than anybody else.  And I think before that, you know, many of those parameters are optional; right?  Whereas they have the choice to do that.

So, I was just wondering if you could elaborate a little bit on, you know, I understand that -- if you can, you know, I know you've talked about this before, but elaborate a little bit on what that optionality means in terms of participating in the market.

MR. NUSBAUM:  Yeah.  So, the parameters around startup costs and speed no load costs to, you know, those are optional for NQS generators if they want to participate in the market in a way that they're eligible for those generator cost guarantee commitments.  So, those are not -- they're not required to offer those.  Those are kind of max values that they're -- they would be allowed to offer in for those values, but there is no obligation -- we're not checking that, oh, did you submit a value here.  It's, like, did you submit a value higher than this?  And so, they are not obligated to offer those in if they chose to participate just based on their energy offer.

MR. AKHTER:  So, if I understand correctly, if they don't put in any values for those optional, you know, non-financial dispatch parameters, they would be considered a quick start resource under the calculation engines?

MR. NUSBAUM:  Okay.  Sorry, no.  Let me back up there then.  So, I was referring specifically to startup costs and speed no-load costs.  Those are financial parameters and I was saying that if they do not enter those, there is no validation or mitigation that happens.  Those are optional.

The other parameters, the other ones, are non-financial parameters and those will be subject to validation, but how they're modelled in our system doesn't change based on these parameters.  They are registered in a certain way and our models account for them and consider them in that dispatch algorithm as combined cycle resources

MR. AKHTER:  Okay.  So, thank you for confirming that.  That's kind of what I was getting -- trying to understand; right?  So, the only optional parameters you are talking about are the speed no-load and the startup costs?

MR. MATSUGU:  I'm sorry, can you repeat that question?

MR. AKHTER:  Sure.  So, when you're saying that those are optional parameters, you are only referring to the speed no-load and the startup costs?

MR. MATSUGU:  Sorry, can you just give us one second?

MR. AKHTER:  Sure.

MR. NUSBAUM:  Sorry, just to correct what I stated earlier.  All of those listed there, all of those parameters are optional for NQS resources.  I misspoke previously.

MR. AKHTER:  Sorry, even the non-financial ones?

MR. MATSUGU:  So, what Mr. Nusbaum is saying is that those specific ones that were identified are not ones that necessarily -- a non-quick start resource may or may not have those limitations.  And so, to the extent they want to identify what those are, they have the ability to do so, but there is not a requirement that they have to identify in that list provided there about those specific parameters.

MR. AKHTER:  So you're referring to figure 13 in the NQS evidence?

MR. MATSUGU:  Sorry, if I'm following correctly, on page 47, on lines 13 to 15, the question was that these -- or the point was several of these parameters were optional.  I think what we're getting at is that -- so, for example, the maximum number of starts per day, a non-quick start resource does not necessarily have to identify a maximum number of starts per day but they can.

MR. AKHTER:  Okay.  Okay, I understand that better now.  And so, as you suggested -- so basically if part of those non-financial parameters, like including starts per day, if they don't submit it, the Market Power mitigation scheme will not consider it.  But if they are submitted and they are outside the bounds, they will be simply rejected; is that correct?

MR. NUSBAUM:  Yes, that is correct.  They -- the market participant is notified and they have to resubmit values that are within the thresholds.

MR. AKHTER:  Okay.  And so, if they don't submit then their whole bid is not considered?  If they don't submit by that objective parameter?  So, I'm just trying to understand what happens if they don't submit that parameter.

MR. NUSBAUM:  That's a very good question.  I don't want to say definitively.  For values that are not optional, if they are rejected and we say, you need to submit a new one, then yes, that's the case.  It would block their whole offer into the market.  They couldn't participate until they resubmitted correct values.

If we reject a value that is optional, do they need to resubmit a value within the thresholds?  I can't say  definitively.  I would have to validate that.  I'm not sure how we have implemented that part of the design

MR. AKHTER:  No, that's fine.  Thank you.  So, now I'm going to just go back a little bit and, you know, ask clarifying questions of some of the questions that my colleague asked here.

So, the first one is on section 2.2, lines 5 to 13.  Page 8, lines 5 to 13.  So, based on my understanding of what was said was that -- and I'm just trying to understand the overall DACP process, and how it translates into PD and RT, a real-time market.  And I am talking about the current market as it exists today.

And so my understanding of what you mentioned was that if an NQS resource participates into the day-ahead commitment process, and assuming that their bid was selected economically, they will be committed into the process, they would get a day-ahead PCG, assuming that they provided all those other -- they have put in a three-part offer.  And based on that, if they get committed, they get an operational commitment, I guess, translated into the pre-dispatch process.  Is that correct?

MR. MATSUGU:  Yes.

MR. NUSBAUM:  Very well said.

MR. AKHTER:  Okay.  Thank you.  And so my question here is that -- but the NQS generator still has the option to change the price.  They might not have been able to change the commitment itself, but they can still change the price; is that correct?

MR. NUSBAUM:  They can change their incremental energy offers above the commitment.

MR. AKHTER:  Okay.  But they cannot change the other two parts, the speed no-load and the start-up costs?

MR. MATSUGU:  Sorry, can you just give us one second?

MR. AKHTER:  Sure.

MR. MATSUGU:  Sorry, I think we just wanted to make sure it was clear.

So once a resource gets a day-ahead schedule, we want to make sure that that cost guarantee is associated with the information that was provided that economically selected them at the time.  So the ability for a resource to revise their offers in order to still be eligible for that committment, that cost guarantee for the commitment, is limited to just the energy that wasn't scheduled.

So I will try and say that again, differently:  In order to make sure -- in order to maintain that eligibility, they can't then after the fact raise their energy offer, their incremental energy offers, which we would then -- because we don't want to give them a higher guarantee payment on the basis of the original offers.

So to the extent that there is energy that didn't get a schedule, then they have the ability to adjust those offers because there was no selection made on the basis of that.  But the ability for them to update the offers associated with getting that commitment is really tied to making sure that they maintain them if they want to continue to get that cost guarantee payment.

MR. AKHTER:  So if I understand that correctly, they can change their incremental energy offer.  But, by doing that, they might forgo the day-ahead commitment or the production cost guarantee.  Did I understand that right?

MR. MATSUGU:  Yeah.  And for any energy that wasn't scheduled in day-ahead, they are free to --


MR. AKHTER:  Yes.

MR. MATSUGU:  -- update those offers without any consequence to their cost guarantee.

MR. AKHTER:  Okay.  Sorry, so just to provide a context of what I am trying to understand, I am just trying to understand, I mean, the parallels between what happens currently in the day-ahead commitment process and what is going to happen in the day-ahead market under MRP.  And so I am just trying to understand how things are happening currently, and how they will happen.  The future, I understand better, but the current ones, I am trying to understand here.

So would it be correct to say that if an NQS generator can get an operational commitment through the day-ahead commitment process, then they can change their offer, forgo the day-ahead production cost guarantee, but then qualify for the real-time generation cost guarantee?  Is that a possibility?

MR. MATSUGU:  I have to think about it.

[Witness panel confers.]


Sorry, we had to talk through that one because, to be honest, that is not a situation that I have -- we have ever really contemplated or, in practice, that we see.  So I think, based upon our assessment of that, is that it is difficult to rationalize for that resource why they would want to do that because they would be forgoing the cost guarantee that they got in day-ahead with the operational certainty about what the expectation is, and that they would then be forgoing that certainty into pre-dispatch, which then again -- the best, I guess, that they would be able to hope for in that instance would be to trigger a real-time generator cost guarantee which -- again, it would return them to a zero operating profit, which is the same situation that they would have been from the day-ahead.

So in practice, I -- to be honest, I have never seen that because I -- and I think my hypothesis is because it is probably not -- there is no upside benefit for them to do that, because they would lose that operational certainty and that financial certainty

MR. AKHTER:  No, no, thank you, for that.  I was just trying to understand because it seems to me based on the conversations that maybe the real-time generation cost guarantee might be more generous than the --


MR. MATSUGU:  Oh, I see.  Yeah --


MR. AKHTER:  -- the day-ahead production cost guarantee?

MR. MATSUGU:  Yeah.  So I think that came back to the previous conversation that we had that, prior to the change to the pre-approved costs, again, that that may have been the case.  And again, I think our conclusion on the basis of the behaviour along with the changes to the market is that that is no longer the case, which is why, given a financial indifference between getting a day-ahead commitment versus a pre-dispatch commitment, that there is a preference to get that day-ahead commitment.

MR. AKHTER:  Okay, thank you.  On the same topic, I mean, I think this is just a confirmation from me is  that -- so the obligation to participate in the day-ahead commitment process right now, even if a resource doesn't get committed, economically selected and committed, is for them to establish an availability declaration envelope.  Is that correct?

MR. NUSBAUM:  That is correct.  I would just again make it clear there is not an obligation to participate day-ahead; it is only if they want to participate in real time.

MR. AKHTER:  Okay.  And they would want to do that.  Right?

MR. NUSBAUM:  Yes.

MR. AKHTER:  Okay.

MR. NUSBAUM:  Yes.  But there is no -- yeah.

MR. AKHTER:  Yeah, okay.  No, I understand that.  And so that same thing is going to stay in the MRP, that they have to participate in the day-ahead market to establish an AD -- sorry, an availability declaration envelope?

MR. MATSUGU:  And that is consistent for all resources, that --


MR. AKHTAR:  Yeah.

MR. MATSUGU:  All resources that want to be able to be scheduled in real time have to make themselves available in day-ahead.

MR. AKHTER:  I promise I only have two questions left.

So, on section 2.3, page 14, lines 1 to 2, I just want to revisit a little bit of the conversation that you had with my colleague, Ljuba here, on trying to understand the cost impact over here.

So my question would be that I understand that your example about coffees and the difference between, you know -- and the concept of net revenues.  But my question here is that assuming that a resource gets -- an NQS resource gets a commitment today in current market, and not through day-ahead commitment process, through the pre-dispatch, and then they get a real-time generation cost guarantee.

And, you know, it has been implied a couple of times that it might be more generous and it might be covering more than their costs.  So, if the same exact commitment is not made in the day-ahead market -- sorry, through the MRP and day-ahead market and goes to the real-time market, would it be correct to suggest that, as you are implying here, that the new real-time generation offer guarantee will not be as generous, that they would be making less net revenue?

MR. MATSUGU:  Just to make sure I follow through the example, in what you just described under both the current and the future, they are still getting a commitment?

MR. AKHTER:  Yes.

MR. MATSUGU:  Yes.  Yes, so I believe that that would be correct, that --


MR. AKHTER:  Okay.

MR. MATSUGU:  -- in both instances under the new market, that the cost guarantee payment that would be paid would be better reflective of what the underlying costs were that were considered in scheduling that resource.

MR. AKHTER:  Yes.  No, I understand that in both cases the generators will be kept whole and there will be no loss.  I was just trying to say that there is still -- I mean, I understand the market efficiency impacts and all of that.  I'm just trying to establish that there is a negative impact with them.  Would that be correct in that scenario?

MR. MATSUGU:  There would -- they would receive less revenue, sorry, less net revenue as a result of that cost guarantee payment being calculated in alignment with the conditions that brought on that commitment.

MR. AKHTER:  I understand.  So the last question I have is:  So I know that there has already been and under advisement taken, JT1.6, where IESO is going to go back and -- what's the right word -- help us understand if the CMSC payments are subject to an ex-post review.

I was just going to add to it:  If IESO can also tell us if the DA-PCG is also subject to ex-post assessment or not?  Because I mean I think the context over there was what kind of mitigation currently happens in the day-ahead commitment process aspect, and so I would just want to understand if the DA-PCG, sorry, the day-ahead production cost guarantee, is subject to ex-post mitigation or not.

MR. NUSBAUM:  Yes, it is.

MR. AKHTER:  Okay, so it is not just the CMSC; it is that cost guarantee, as well?

MR. NUSBAUM:  It is commitments coming out of that are subject to assessment.

MR. AKHTER:  Okay.  Thank you.

MR. NUSBAUM:  I'm not sure if it is the entire payment or only the CMSC portion.

MR. AKHTER:  I'm sorry.  Can you just repeat that?

MR. MATSUGU:  Sorry, can you repeat that last part of your question before we respond?

MR. AKHTER:  Yes.  So I think that my understanding was that, based on the advisement that was taken for JT1.6, is that IESO is going to go back and confirm if, from the day-ahead commitment perspective, what are the aspects there are currently that are subject to ex-post mitigation.  And I think CMSC was specifically mentioned, so I just wanted to know if the day-ahead production cost guarantee is also subject to ex-post mitigation.

MR. MATSUGU:  Yes, that's the undertaking that we'll, we --


MR. AKHTER:  Thank you.  That's all from me.

MS. DJURDJEVIC:  Okay.  Is this a new undertaking or just related?

MR. MATSUGU:  I believe it was just confirming that we had accepted 1.6.

MR. AKHTER:  Yes.

MR. ZACHER:  We can just --


MS. DJURDJEVIC:  Oh, 1.6.

MR. ZACHER:  Yes.  We can include that within the other undertaking if it's not clear.

MS. DJURDJEVIC:  Okay.

MR. AKHTER:  Sorry, I just missed one question.  Apologies.  I would like to ask that one.

So I know that we talked about the $15/MW trigger for the operating reserve.  I was just wondering if you could just elaborate a little bit on how that trigger was chosen, given that many of the offers could be significantly higher than that trigger.

MR. MATSUGU:  I can start with that.  So I think perhaps the first place that I'll go to is the last thing that you said, given that many of the offers could be significantly higher.

Participants submit different offers for the provision of energy versus the provision of operating reserve, and so participants that have a higher incremental cost, a non-zero incremental cost, to provide energy may actually have very low or almost zero cost of providing operating reserve.

So, for example, in the case of a non-quick-start resource, the cost to get to a minimum loading point is kind of reflected in that incremental energy, but the cost of sitting at that minimum loading point and being available to potentially increase its energy in response to a contingency that Mr. Nusbaum described, that cost could be relatively small.

Typically what we see in the clearing prices for operating reserve is the costs for resources -- and I will speak more generally -- the costs for resources to provide operating reserve is actually usually very, very small.  And that's associated with the clearing prices for reserves, are typically very, very low.  They don't typically clear above $15, and so the idea of, well, $15 is a sign that the conditions for the operating reserve market are pretty tight, is a pretty clear indication that there is something atypical that's happening, that is causing the supply of operating reserve or I guess in theory the demand for operating reserve to be very different from normal system conditions.

So, as Mr. Nusbaum described, that's really just a flag for us to say:  Hey, there is something unusual here, and so we should then apply the tests to see did this come about as a result of the exercise of market value.

MR. AKHTER:  Okay.  Thank you.  So the last thing I wanted to ask was that, in the current market, I understand that the pricing impact might not be as much because the pricing schedule is different.  But would it be correct to state that, even in today's market, if you exercise market power, that can impact the schedules of other market participants?

MR. MATSUGU:  I guess the way I would describe it is if -- I guess it depends on if you are trying to exercise market power by economically withholding or physically withholding.  And what one to exercise economic withholding would try to do is actually not get a different dispatch schedule but actually just get a higher price as a result of exercising that market power.

And I think --


MR. AKHTER:  No -- yes.

MR. MATSUGU:  Sorry.  I believe part of our response in identifying that we had not seen sufficient evidence of the basis of that there is a financial harm is we didn't see any evidence that identified that, under the current market, there is the exercise of market power that is not being mitigated, that a participant is currently benefitting from and that in the future market, that as a result of applying that market power mitigation, that that opportunity would then no longer exist.

MR. AKHTER:  Okay.  Thank you so much.  That's all from me on my side.

MS. DJURDJEVIC:  Thank you to the IESO witness and to Mr. Akhter.  Just to do a time check, we switched places with CCC.  So I'm going to check in with Mr. Gluck to see how much time he thinks he needs and then we can see if we could just continue on and hopefully wrap up today, or whether we might need to schedule a break at some point.  Mr. Gluck?

MR. GLUCK:  Thanks, Ms. Ljuba.  I think this will probably take 10 or 15 minutes.

MS. DJURDJEVIC:  Okay.  And then let me just also check in with Mr. Rubenstein.  How much time do you anticipate needing?

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  I don't know, maybe 15 to 20 minutes.

MS. DJURDJEVIC:  Okay.  Would everybody be okay if we continued on with CCC and SEC or does anybody need a break?  And in particular I'm looking to our court reporter.  If she can hold out for another 40 or 45 minutes or so.  All right.  I'm hearing no objections, we'll forge on.

So, Mr. Gluck, over to you for your questions for the IESO witnesses.

MR. GLUCK:  Thank you.
Examination by Mr. Gluck

MR. GLUCK:  Good afternoon, everyone.  My name is Lawrie Gluck and I'm a consultant for the Consumers Council of Canada.  I have a few questions for you today and the evidentiary references for all of these questions are contained in the IESO's objective and responding evidence and the Power Advisory evidence.  And I'm hoping we don't have to go to every page in this first part, but please let me know if you would like to go to the direct page references.

In IESO's MRP objective evidence you described two types of permanent cost guarantee programs that currently exist in the IESO administered market, these are the day-ahead production cost guarantee program and the real-time generation cost guarantee program.  My question for you is:  Are both of these programs available to non-quick start generators?

MR. NUSBAUM:  Yes, they are.

MR. GLUCK:  And are these guaranteed programs available to any other generator types?

MR. NUSBAUM:  No, they are not.

MR. GLUCK:  And the rationale for these guarantee programs, at a high level, is that the NQS generators require a unique treatment because of their operational characteristics that require lead times to ramp up generation, minimum levels of generation in a given hour, and the need to generate for a certain amount of time before they can be safely shut down; is that fair?

MR. NUSBAUM:  I think that's correct.

MR. GLUCK:  And these programs are being replaced after implementation of the MRP by the day-ahead generation offer guarantee and the real-time generation offer guarantee programs; is that right?

MR. NUSBAUM:  That's correct.

MR. GLUCK:  And both of these new programs will be available to non-quick start generators?

MR. NUSBAUM:  That's correct as well.

MR. GLUCK:  And will they be available to any other generator types?

MR. NUSBAUM:  No, they will not.

MR. GLUCK:  So, is it fair to say that the NQS generators with the availability of these guarantee programs have access to different programs relative to other generators currently and will continue to have similar access to different programs relative to other generators after MRP implementation?

MR. NUSBAUM:  Yes.

MR. GLUCK:  And with respect to the new day-ahead generation offer guarantee program, this one will continue to -- it already uses and will continue to use three-part offers for -- related to energy costs, start-up costs, and speed no-load costs, which is essentially the same as the current DA price guarantee program; is that right?

MR. NUSBAUM:  That's correct, both in the commitment decision and in the payments, it will use all three.

MR. GLUCK:  Thank you.  And the new real-time generation offer guarantee program will now also consider the three-part offer instead of only considering energy costs; is that right?

MR. MATSUGU:  Sorry, can you repeat that again?

MR. GLUCK:  Sure.  The new revised or replaced Real-Time Generation Offer Guarantee program will now also use or consider three-part offers instead of only considering energy costs?

MR. NUSBAUM:  So, just for clarity, there is a nuance there.  The pre-dispatch process that establishes those commitments will in the new market use all three.

MR. GLUCK:  Right.

MR. NUSBAUM:  But in both legacy market and the new market, those were the eligible costs that went into calculating the GCG payment itself.

MR. GLUCK:  Okay.  Thank you.  And -- okay.  Well, that's helpful.  Thank you.  Maybe we can pull up page 32 of the responding evidence

MR. MATSUGU:  Sorry, what's the page?

MR. GLUCK:  Page 32.

MR. MATSUGU:  I'm sorry, Mr. Gluck.  Can we just go back to that last question for a second because I do want to make sure that we are correct in our response to that.

MR. GLUCK:  Of course.

MR. MATSUGU:  So, under the current real-time generator cost guarantee program, participants do not submit three-part offers in that timeframe.  And so, the calculation of that cost guarantee uses pre-approved costs for start-up and for speed no-load in that calculation, but we just want to make sure that it was clear that -- I wouldn't characterize that as using three-part offers in the current market because they do not -- in the real-time commitment, they aren't participant-submitted three-part offers.  Functionally, they operate the same for the purpose of it, which is factually they are not technically three-part offers.

MR. GLUCK:  Okay.  No, that's helpful.  Thank you.  I'm not sure if someone is going to pull up the page, but if you have it in front of you, we can just go ahead.  So, it's page 32 of the responding evidence.  It's -- I'm starting on line 4 here and in this section you discuss that the pre-dispatch 3 prices that are used by Power Advisory in its analysis are based on the unconstrained schedule.  And in the same paragraph you also discuss the constrained shadow prices.  And can you help me, can you explain the difference between the  constrained shadow price and the unconstrained price used by Power Advisory in this example?

MR. MATSUGU:  Yeah, okay.  So, what we were noting is that the analysis that Power Advisory conducted in order to determine whether or not the proxy generator in this example would meet the eligibility criteria was comparing the economics of the energy offer relative to the unconstrained HOEP.  That is not, in fact, what the eligibility criteria is under the current market.  It is -- is it economically scheduled in the constrained schedule for half of its MGBRT.  And so, to use HOEP to be able to determine whether or not they would have gotten -- the economically scheduled in the constrained schedule would not be an appropriate -- that would not be an appropriate use of it.

The best proxy for that would be instead to look at the constrained shadow price, the shadow price being the price that the IESO publishes but does not use for settlements to reflect what that clear value is in the constrained schedule.

MR. GLUCK:  Okay.  And just to confirm that we're talking about the same column -- and I think -- I'm only asking this because I think I heard you say "HOEP."  But it is the PD-3 column in their analysis.  Is that --


MR. MATSUGU:  Yeah.  Yeah, and I think this is where we -- it is unclear, because it is not stated in their evidence whether or not they are using the PD-3, unconstrained or constrained.  But it appears that they are using the unconstrained PD-3 price for that day.  And, if that is the case, that is not the basis in which a commitment is determined.

MR. GLUCK:  Okay.  So -- okay.  No, that's fair.  Thank you.

If we could go to page 34 of your responding evidence, and this is at line 13.  And you discussed this a bit earlier today.  But here, you state that:
"Power Advisory's annual impact analysis..."

So this is their appendix C analysis:

"...ignores that a second resource would need to be committed to replace the production not provided by the proxy NQS generator, which was not committed in dispatch, and that second resource is likely to be another NQS resource."

And, in the Power Advisory evidence at page 16, they say that gas-fired generation accounts for more than 25 percent of all installed transmission-connected capacity in Ontario.  Would you agree with that figure?

MR. MATSUGU:  The 25 percent figure?

MR. GLUCK:  Yes.

MR. MATSUGU:  I would -- I can't confirm for sure, but that doesn't sound implausible.  But that sounds about right, yeah.

MR. GLUCK:  Okay, thank you.  And in terms of gas-fired generation, is it all NQS in Ontario?  Or is there some quick start?

MR. MATSUGU:  We do have a very limited number of quick start -- or simple-cycle combustion turbine facilities.  But the large majority of our natural gas fleet is from combined cycle plants.

MR. GLUCK:  Okay, thank you.  And in footnote 25, I think it is at the bottom of page 34 -- okay.

So here, you mention that the NQS Generation Group does not include all NQS resources in the province.  And Power Advisory's analysis in appendix C was not extrapolated for all NQS resources as a class of generators.  And I am trying to understand the magnitude of the NQS capacity that is missing in Power Advisory's analysis.

So in their evidence they note that, as we have discussed, there is, you know, what we said, 25 percent of all installed transmission-connected generation connected capacity, which is about 10,000 megawatts.  And they say that the NQS Generation Group, so the applicant in this case, represents 5,000 megawatts of that installed capacity.

Is that your understanding as well?  Is the NQS Generation Group about half of the NQS capacity?

MR. NUSBAUM:  Yeah.  I think that is in the right ballpark.  I think, of the 10,000 natural gas or thermal units in Ontario, I think about 2,000 is Lennox, which leaves about 8,000.  And so that means the NQS Group represents about half of the total NQS fleet.

MR. MATSUGU:  Of the 10,000 megawatts, not the 10,000 facilities; we don't have 10,000 facilities.

MR. NUSBAUM:  Have I been saying "facilities"?  Sorry, it has been a long day.  I should have said 10,000 megawatts.  Thank you.

MR. GLUCK:  I figured that.  Okay.  Those are my questions.  Thank you, very much.

MR. NUSBAUM:  Thank you.

MS. DJURDJEVIC:  Thank you, Mr. Gluck.

Over to you, Mr. Rubenstein.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  Thank you, very much, panel.  I know it has been a long day.
Examination by Mr. Rubenstein:

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  I would like to just start off -- it is a bit of a follow-up to Mr. Gluck's questions there, at the end.  But maybe we can go to page 13 of your report.

And there, in the paragraph starting at line 17, you discuss that you do not agree with the Power Advisory assertion that the MRP amendments will result in fewer commitments and dispatches of NQS resources as a class, and you expect that there will be primary -- that it will primarily result in competition amongst NQS generators.  Do you see that?

MR. NUSBAUM:  Yes.

MR. MATSUGU:  Yes.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  I just want to make sure I understand the language because in the -- when you are talking about class, you use the wording, "NQS resources."  And then, when you are talking about "competition amongst", you are talking about NQS generators.

Is there a difference between NQS resources and NQS generators?

MR. MATSUGU:  I don't believe that there is an intentional difference in the words that we chose there.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  Okay.

MR. ZACHER:  I think, Mr. Rubenstein, on the first page you will see that non-quick start resources are defined as NQS resources or NQS generators.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  Okay.  But for the purposes of this, it means the same thing?

MR. MATSUGU:  Yeah.  There was not an intentional distinction.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  Yeah, that's fine.  And I just want to make sure, in addition to gas-fired generators, there are other non-quick start resources.  Correct?  Or not?

MR. MATSUGU:  The distinction that we were trying to make is technically nuclear generators are also non-quick start resources.  And so the universe of non-quick start resources technically includes nuclear generators, because they can't respond quickly.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  Are there any others? - in Ontario, to be clear.

MR. MATSUGU:  I don't believe so.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  And as we just discussed, not all natural gas generators are non-quick start generators or resources.  Correct?

MR. MATSUGU:  That is correct.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  And then, as you discussed with Mr. Gluck, not all non-quick start natural gas generators are part of the NQS Generation Group?

MR. MATSUGU:  That is correct.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  And are you able to provide a list of the generation, the natural gas generation facilities that are non-quick start that are not part of the NQS Group?

MR. ZACHER:  Yes, we will do that, Mr. Rubenstein.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  And I would ask that you would also provide their capacity as well, not just the name of the facility.

MS. DJURDJEVIC:  That will be undertaking JT1.9.
UNDERTAKING JT1.9:  IESO TO PROVIDE A LIST AND CAPACITY OF THE NATURAL GAS GENERATION FACILITIES THAT ARE NON-QUICK START AND ARE NOT PART OF THE NQS GROUP

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  Do you know, just as we are here, if Brighton Beach is a non-quick start natural gas generator?

MR. MATSUGU:  Yes, they are.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  Okay, thank you.  Now, your evidence discusses the various Market Surveillance Panel reports over the years that have made criticisms with respect to the current Market Rules that the MRP and the MRP amendments are meant to address.  Correct?

MR. MATSUGU:  Yes.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  And as I understand, pursuant to the IESO's licence, section 6.25, the IESO is required to file annually with the OEB a status of actions by the licensee, and status of actions taken over the last four years and, if there is no action taken, rationale for why not.

Is that your understanding, as well?

MR. MATSUGU:  I believe that is correct.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  Are you able to file those reports since the first MSP recommendations with respect to those recommendations -- either the full report or simply those that relate to the MRP amendments?  Sorry, recommendations that are being addressed by the MRP amendments?

MR. ZACHER:  Hold on for one minute.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  Sure.

MR. ZACHER:  Mr. Rubenstein, that's fine, yes.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  Thank you.

MS. DJURDJEVIC:  That will be --


MR. ZACHER:  I apologize.

MS. DJURDJEVIC:  That will be undertaking JT1.10.  Do we need to clarify it?  I heard "filing MSP reports," and then it dropped off.
UNDERTAKING JT1.10:  IESO TO FILE THE FILINGS REQUIRED UNDER SECTION 6.25 OF THE IESO'S LICENCE, SINCE THE FIRST MSP RECOMMENDATIONS, RELATED TO THE ISSUES ADDRESSED BY THE MARKET RENEWAL PROGRAM AND THE MRP AMENDMENTS


MR. RUBENSTEIN:  Well, I can clarify what I'm asking.  To file -- I don't know what the language that the IESO uses, but the filings required under section 6.25 of the IESO's licence, all the way back since the first MSP recommendation related to issues that are being addressed by way of the market renewal program, either a full report or, if it wants, really only those recommendations and the related information that are being addressed through the MRP amendments.

MR. DUFFY:  So, Mr. Rubenstein, yes, we'll do that.  Just the one point that we may need to look at is it is -- you know, as you know, I think the cost guarantee, the Generator Cost Guarantee and day-ahead have taken a number of different forms over the years.  So I mean we'll certainly give you what is directly being addressed by MRP, and then we'll try to get a sense of, as it goes further back in time, the earlier iterations of those programs.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  Well, that's why just filing the reports [audio dropout]  I'll also have to sort through them.  It's probably in everyone's best interest.

MR. DUFFY:  Yes, we'll --


MR. RUBENSTEIN:  Thank you.  I'm interested in the IESO's position regarding the application.  Is it the IESO's position that the MRP amendments, or at least in part, discriminate against the NQS generators but that that discrimination is just, or it's the IESO's position that the MRP amendments do not discriminate against the NQS generators?  If you like --


MR. ZACHER:  Sorry, Mr. Rubenstein.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  Yes?

MR. ZACHER:  "Discriminate" is a legal term, so maybe you can break that down into what exactly you mean.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  Well, I --


MR. ZACHER:  Are you talking about treat them differently, impact them differently?

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  Economic discrimination as the OEB has defined it, and then I am okay if you want to take that by way of an undertaking.  I am interested in the IESO's position because the evidence doesn't actually set it out.  It's a critique of the Power Advisory report, but it doesn't really set out the IESO's actual position on the ultimate issue, at all, insofar as -- obviously, it doesn't agree that it meets the -- it's unjustly discriminates.  So I'm just trying to understand what are we going to end  up -- which part of that is that issue here?

MR. ZACHER:  So, Mr. Rubenstein, just because these are fact witnesses and you're asking a question that is in some ways a legal question, we'll take that under advisement and we'll -- let me back up.  We'll provide you with an answer to that.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  Thank you very much.

MS. DJURDJEVIC:  That will be undertaking JT1.11.
UNDERTAKING JT1.11:  IESO TO PROVIDE ITS POSITION ON WHETHER THE MRP AMENDMENTS DISCRIMINATE AGAINST THE NQS GENERATORS, BUT THAT DISCRIMINATION IS JUST; OR THAT THE MRP AMENDMENTS DO NOT DISCRIMINATE AGAIN THE NQS GENERATORS; USING "DISCRIMINATE" IN THE SENSE OF "ECONOMIC DISCRIMINATION", AS DEFINED BY THE OEB (UNDER ADVISEMENT)


MR. RUBENSTEIN:  Am I correct that, as part of the development of the MRP and the MRP amendment process, the provisional amendments and the final alignment amendments are reviewed by the technical panel as well as there is a period for public comment?

MR. NUSBAUM:  That's correct.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  And, with respect to the technical panel, it is my understanding it includes a representative of one of the NQS generators or members of the NQS generators or their parent company, Mr. Deeg of Capital Power; is that your understanding, as well?

MR. NUSBAUM:  Mr. Deeg is a member of the technical panel, and I believe there are others, as well.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  I mean I recognize there are other members of the technical panel.  Do you mean there are other members of representatives who are part of the NQS Generation Group?

MR. NUSBAUM:  Yes, OPG is also represented on the technical panel.  I'm sure you understand the relationship between OPG and Atura.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  Yes.  And maybe if I can share my screen for a moment -- do you see a PDF on your screen?

MR. NUSBAUM:  Yes, it is there now.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  So this was part of the filings that the IESO filed as required under its licence when an application for review is.  And I'm looking at the document, "Member vote and rationale for market renewal program:  Final alignment batch."  This is the IESO technical panel September 10, 2024, just to position ourselves.  Do you see that?

MR. NUSBAUM:  Yes.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  And as I understand -- I apologize.  I am in the middle of the document.  So this is the minutes of that meeting.  And, as I understand, there was a vote taken with respect to the final alignment batch.  And, as I read through it, all members voted yes or for the amendments.  Do I have that right?

MR. NUSBAUM:  That's correct.  It was a unanimous vote, yes.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  And, as I understand, there are comments; I believe the members are allowed to provide a rationale for their vote.  That's my understanding of how the process works.

MR. NUSBAUM:  That's correct.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  And, as I understand, Mr. Deeg does provide comments about some outstanding issues, and he talks about contract amendments, and there was a reference-level issue.  But I don't see any comments besides that regarding that the amendments are discriminatory or unjustly discriminatory in and of themselves; is that correct?

MR. NUSBAUM:  Yes, that would be fair to say.  We have not heard that argument through the market rule stakeholdering approval process.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  So I guess my question -- and so that was just specific to Mr. Deeg.  But is this something that has been brought to your attention outside of the technical panel vote, in comments or otherwise?

MR. NUSBAUM:  That the rules are discriminatory?

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  Are unjustly discriminatory, yes.

MR. NUSBAUM:  No, that has not --


MR. RUBENSTEIN:  In and of themselves.  I just want to clarify.  I know there are comments about the contract element, but just the rules in and of themselves.

MR. NUSBAUM:  No, that has not come up as part of that technical panel review process.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  Okay.  Thank you.  I'm going to stop sharing my screen.

I just want to ask and just follow up on a more technical question.  This is with respect to the current cost guarantee programs.  Can you just help me make sure I understand the difference in terms of the costs that are considered and the revenues that are considered as part of the day-ahead cost guarantee program and the real-time cost guarantee program.

Can you help me understand:  What are the differences in terms of --


MR. NUSBAUM:  Oh, I'm sorry.  I was waiting for a specific -- was there a specific question or --


MR. RUBENSTEIN:  Well, I'm asking from your -- in terms of the costs that are considered and the revenues, what is the difference?

MR. NUSBAUM:  So, in today's market, the Generator Cost Guarantee program includes start-up costs, speed no-load costs, and energy costs up to minimum loading point, in terms of eligible costs.  And then netted, as off that or deducted from that, are revenues for energy injected and CMSC, only to the extent the unit was uneconomic while constrained on to meet its minimum loading point.  So it's the sum of energy injected and any CMSC associated with its minimum load point.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  I'm sorry, my mistake.  I meant to say the difference between the production and the real-time.  So the current, the two current programs, the difference of the costs and revenues considered now in those two programs.

MR. NUSBAUM:  So, sorry, we were just confirming our understanding.

Yes, the eligible costs and revenue that's accounted for between those two, the day-ahead production cost guarantee and the real-time cost guarantee program, are the same.  I think the only difference we would note is that the start-up and speed no-load costs for a day-ahead commitment are based on what the generator offered into that -- at that time.  And then for the real-time generator cost guarantee, they are based on those pre-approved costs that we spoke to earlier.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  All right.  And in the market renewal market, the day-ahead offer guarantee and the real-time offer guarantee programs, what is the difference in terms of costs and revenues that are considered?

MR. NUSBAUM:  Those are the same.  Those would both have all costs associated with the start and all associated revenues.  The difference there is including OR revenue and revenue earned above MLP.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  Thank you.  And then finally, and this is by way of undertaking, this morning you were taken in the NQS generators compendium to the business case validation memo.  And I'm not sure what the status of an exhibit that's put to you in a cross-examination -- sorry, in a technical conference.  Can I ask that that memo be filed on the record as evidence?

MR. ZACHER:  Yes.

MS. DJURDJEVIC:  That will be Undertaking JT1.12.
UNDERTAKING JT1.12:  IESO TO FILE THE BUSINESS CASE VALIDATION MEMO

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  Thank you very much.  Those are all my questions.

MS. DJURDJEVIC:  Okay.  I think that is the end of the questions for the IESO panel.  Mr. Zacher or Mr. Duffy, did you feel any need to re-examine or re-direct on anything?

MR. ZACHER:  No, thank you.

MS. DJURDJEVIC:  Not that it's a cross-examination, but you know.  No, we're good?

MR. ZACHER:  Thank you.

MS. DJURDJEVIC:  Okay.  So, thank you, everybody.  And so, we are adjourned for today.  We'll resume tomorrow at 9:30 with the NQS witness panel.  And I believe Mr. Vellone has advised that he doesn't intend to do, sort of, an introduction much like the IESO did today, so we'll just launch into the questions immediately.  And Staff is still working on responding to the question about whether oral argument needs to be made at the end of the oral hearing or whether it will be written.  We'll be getting directions from the Panel and report back.  All right.  Thank you again, everyone, and wish you a good evening.  See you tomorrow.
--- Whereupon the proceeding adjourned at 4:19 p.m.
87

